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Lake Country Council
2022-2026

Mayor Blair Ireland
Airport Advisory Committee
Central Okanagan Development Commission
Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee
Public Art Advisory Commission 
Regional District of Central Okanagan Board
UBCO Regional Leadership Table
Water Services Advisory Committee

Councillor Tricia Brett - Okanagan Centre
Airport Advisory Committee (Alternate)
Lake Country Health Society (Alternate)
Parks and Recreation Advisory  
 Committee (Alternate)
Tourism Kelowna

Councillor Heather Irvine - Winfield

Lake Country Seniors Housing Society

Councillor Michael Lewis - At Large
Public Art Advisory Commission 
Safe Schools Committee (Alternate)
Tourism Kelowna (Alternate)

Councillor Todd McKenzie - Oyama
Lake Country Health Society
Lake Country Seniors Housing 
 Society (Alternate)
Municipal Insurance Association of BC
Okanagan Regional Library Board (Alternate)
Regional District of Central Okanagan  
 Board (Alternate)
Water Services Advisory Committee (Alternate) 
Winfield Senior Citizens Society

Councillor Bib Patel - At Large
Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee
Public Art Advisory Commission (Alternate)
Safe Schools Committee
Winfield Senior Citizens Society (Alternate)

Councillor Cara Reed - Carr’s Landing
Central Okanagan Development 
 Commission (Alternate)
Okanagan Regional Library Board
UBCO Regional Leadership Table (Alternate)

The District of Lake Country is governed by an elected 
Council comprised of a Mayor and six Councillors. 
Members of Council are elected for a four-year term, 
one from each of the 4 wards plus 2 at-large. The 
current term is from 2022 to 2026. 

Regular Council meetings are held at 7:00pm on the 
first and third Tuesdays of every month in Council 
Chambers at Municipal Hall, 10150 Bottom Wood 
Lake Road. Public Hearings on development matters 
are scheduled at the same time and take place just 
prior to the Regular Council Meeting. Members of the 
public are encouraged to attend Council Meetings and 
Public Hearings or access remotely online. 

Meeting minutes and agendas are available on the 
District website www.lakecountry.bc.ca. 

Contact Lake Country council:  
mayorandcouncil@lakecountry.bc.ca.

232 
COUNCIL 

RESOLUTIONS 

189 
LETTERS FROM 
THE PUBLIC TO 

MAYOR AND 
COUNCIL 

23 
REGULAR 
COUNCIL 

MEETINGS

FAST FACTS: 

COMMITTEES AND COMMISSIONS 
Committees are formed by Council with the intent 
to provide advice on various issues that affect the 
District of Lake Country. In addition to individual 
Terms of Reference, Committees are governed by 
Council Procedures Bylaw 1105, 2019 and amended 
from time to time.
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The District of Lake Country acknowledges that it is conducting business on the 
unceded territory of squilx” / syilx (Okanagan) peoples. 

Lake Country Council and staff recognize the importance of building respectful 
relationships that contribute to stewarding the land and waters in the 
community with integrity and consideration for future generations. 
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Blair Ireland, Mayor

Message from the Mayor

The District of Lake 
Country’s 2024 Annual 
Report provides an 
opportunity to look back at 
a transformative and busy 
year for our community. 
This report provides insight 
into our finances, major 
projects, department 
highlights, and the progress 
we’ve made across the 
municipality.

The year 2024 marked a 
significant turning point for 

our organization. In February, we welcomed Paul Gipps as 
our new Chief Administrative Officer. One of Paul’s early 
priorities was to streamline our development approval 
processes, an area that had long been burdened by 
backlogs within the planning department. These delays 
had constrained our ability to advance key projects 
and meet community expectations. Through strong 
collaboration with our regional partners—particularly the 
City of Kelowna—we secured vital support and resources 
that enabled us to begin clearing these backlogs and 
improving service delivery. In tandem, Council approved 
important updates to the Official Community Plan, aimed 
at reducing red tape and empowering property owners 
to unlock the full potential of their land.

Beyond these operational improvements, Paul also 
championed a broader cultural shift within the District—
one focused on building a more positive, resident-
friendly approach at every level of the organization. His 
leadership has helped set a new tone and direction that 
aligns with our long-term vision for a more responsive 
and engaged local government.

New provincial legislation, including Bills 44, 46, and 
47, along with the Short-Term Rental Accommodations 
Act and the Speculation and Vacancy Tax, has directed 
all municipalities to focus on increasing housing supply. 
In response, we updated our zoning maps and are now 
working toward achieving new housing targets. Our 
vision includes creating more walkable communities 
with housing options for all, supported by local retail and 
transit infrastructure.

Diversifying our tax base remains a key priority. 
Sustainable community growth depends on it. Advancing 
the Lake Country Business Park is a central focus for 
both Council and staff. We are actively collaborating 
with landholders to bring new light industrial areas 
online, while also revitalizing Main Street. The first 

Main Street development in some time—a six-storey 
mixed-use building—is under construction, and we are 
planning another project focused on seniors’ housing. 
Our Economic Development team is also working closely 
with the business sector to attract investment and grow 
commercial activity.

One of the most exciting developments of 2024 was the 
District’s purchase of the BC Tree Fruits property at 9718 
Bottom Wood Lake Road. This acquisition opens doors 
for recreational amenities, a future RCMP detachment, 
community spaces, and a potential expansion of the 
Winfield Arena. Funded through grants and reserves—
with no tax increase to residents—this purchase 
represents a major opportunity. We look forward to 
working with the community in the coming year to 
determine how this space can best serve Lake Country’s 
long-term needs.

We also collaborated with the City of Kelowna on a 
proposed boundary adjustment between Beaver Lake 
Road and McCarthy Road, resulting in five properties 
being transferred to Lake Country. This expansion 
strengthens our tax base and helps ease the long-term 
tax burden on homeowners—an important and practical 
step for our community’s growth.

On a lighter note, Live! in Lake Country returned this 
summer with an incredible lineup, including Andrew 
Johns, Cod Gone Wild, Dawson Gray, and the Everly 
Brothers Tribute. These free outdoor concerts are a 
beloved tradition that bring us together to enjoy music, 
connection, and our beautiful summer evenings.

Throughout 2024, the dedication of our staff, Council, 
volunteers, and community groups has been truly 
inspiring. I am deeply grateful for everyone who 
contributes to making Lake Country such a desirable 
and welcoming place to live. I’d like to especially thank 
our volunteers, whose time and energy help shape the 
vibrant community spirit we’re known for.

Fostering open communication with the public  
remains one of my highest priorities. I believe residents 
should understand both the challenges we face and  
the opportunities before us. When we share context,  
we strengthen our ability to collaborate and build a  
more informed and resilient community. I encourage  
all residents to connect with Council, stay involved,  
and participate when we ask for input.  
Your voice truly matters.

Blair Ireland, Mayor
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Mission Statement 
To nurture a healthy natural environment, strong rural character and urban core, 
sustainable infrastructure, economic opportunities, an inclusive community with 

involved citizens, through respectful, transparent government, focused on balanced 
strategic decision making. 
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Municipal Services and Operations
SERVICES PROVIDED BY THE 
DISTRICT INCLUDE:

• Building permits and inspection

• Business licensing

• Bylaw enforcement/education

• Drainage system maintenance

• Economic development

• Emergency preparedness planning
and coordination

• Engineering services

• Financial reporting

• Fire inspection

• Fire protection

• Legislative services

• Parks maintenance and operation

• Planning services

• Property tax and utility account
maintenance and payment options

• Recreation and cultural programs
and facilities operation and
maintenance

• RCMP Administration

• Wastewater Collection and
Treatment

• Short term vacation rental
management

• Sidewalk construction and
maintenance

• Snow removal

• Road construction and maintenance

• Street lighting

• Tourism and destination
management

• Water system operation
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Strategic Priorities 2024

INFRASTRUCTURE 2024 ACHIEVEMENTS ONGOING OBJECTIVES

Well maintained 
infrastructure and facilities 

that meet community 
needs and allow growth and 
development for prosperity.

• Beaver Lake Intake Phase 1, Coffer Dam
construction

• Pretty Road Improvement project
• Liquid Waste Management Plan, Stage 2
• Integrated Storm Water Management Plan,

Phase 2
• Purchase of 8.4 acre lot for recreation and

public amenities

• Secure long term wastewater
service delivery for the
community.

• Ensure sustainable water service
delivery for the community.

• Create infrastructure that meets
community needs.

ECONOMY 2024 ACHIEVEMENTS ONGOING OBJECTIVES

Building a strong and vibrant 
community by attracting, 
supporting and retaining 
businesses and residents.

• Area Structured Plan for Lake Country
Business Park

• Economic Development Strategy (2024-2027)
adopted by Council

• Support opportunities to
diversity lake country’s tax base.

• Implement the Agricultural Plan
• Encourage growth of the

downtown core.

GOVERNANCE 2024 ACHIEVEMENTS ONGOING OBJECTIVES

Fiscally sustainable 
government focused 
on strategic decision-

making, transparency and 
inclusiveness.

• Local Government Development Approvals
Program grant of $145,000 allocated to
improve internal processes for development
approvals.

• Honour reconciliation by
strengthening relationships and
inclusiveness with indigenous
partners.

• Identify and support
improvements to the
development process.

• Explore opportunities to engage
with regional local governments.

ENVIRONMENT 2024 ACHIEVEMENTS ONGOING OBJECTIVES

Maintaining a healthy and 
natural environment through 
responsible use, protection 
and sustainable practices.

• Wildfire-prevention partnership formed to
protect water supply

• LakeCounTREE program selling FireSmart and
Waterwise trees

• BC Hydro partnership on Electric Vehicle
charging hub

• Preserve, protect and enhance
our natural environment.

SOCIAL 2024 ACHIEVEMENTS ONGOING OBJECTIVES

Building Social Capital and 
engaging citizens and partners 
to improve the well-being and 

diversity of the community.

• Construction of accessible dock and kayak
launch

• Installation of Mobi-Mat and accessible picnic
tables

• Public Art, Davidson Rd Mural
• Expansion of Food Bank building
• Development of outdoor multi-use sports

court

• Review existing demand and
capacity, future trends and
projected needs.

• Create and support opportunities
for a healthy, active and inclusive
community.

• Addressing climate change in all decisions
• Support quality development that respects public safety, environment

and community needs
• Finish what we started

LAKE COUNTRY COUNCIL’S 
COMMITMENT TO:
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Canadian Award for Financial Reporting 

Lake Country’s annual financial report for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 was awarded the Canadian Award 
for Financial Reporting by Government Finance Officers 
Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA). 
This is the District’s ninth year in a row to receive this 
award. To receive the Canadian Award for Financial 
Reporting, a government must publish an easily readable 
and efficiently organized annual financial report. Lake 
Country’s financial reports go beyond the minimum 
requirements of generally accepted accounting principles 
and demonstrate an effort to clearly communicate the 
municipal government’s financial picture.

Awards and Achievements 

(Left to right) Mayor Ireland, Lisa Houle-Director, 
Programs & Initiatives, BCMSA, Sarah Goodwin-DLC 
Occupational Health & Safety Specialist and Paul Gipps-CAO

Blair Ireland (left), and 
Sarah Goodwin (right).

Also in 2024, OHS Specialist, 
Sarah Goodwin received 
the 2024 Occupational 
Health & Safety Employee 
of the Year Award. The 
BCMSA recognizes a local 
government individual 
who has demonstrated an 
outstanding achievement 
in the field of Occupational 
Health & Safety.

The District of Lake Country was successful in achieving 
the BC Municipal Safety Association Certificate of 
Recognition Audit. With an outstanding score of 97%, 
this is a major milestone for the organization and is 
representative of the undeniable commitment to safety.

(Left to right) Mayor Ireland, Sarah Goodwin-DLC 
Occupational Health & Safety Specialist, Caroline 
Barnhart-HR Manager and Paul Gipps-CAO

Additionally, for the fourth year in a row, the District 
of Lake Country received the award for Organizational 
Safety Excellence from the BC Municipal Safety 
Association. The award recognizes the local governments 
for activities that improve experience rating ultimately 
reducing injuries, illness, disease and fatalities.

Trevor James (left) and 
Mayor Ireland (right).

HR, Safety and Public Works staff celebrate at the BC 
Municipal Safety Association awards dinner.
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Message from the Chief Administrative Officer

I’m pleased to share with you the 2024 annual report. 
Last year was another busy year for the District with 
many projects and operational efficiencies planned.  

On the development approvals side of the organization 
staff spent a lot of time streamlining the process and 
getting caught up on the backlog of applications in the 
system.  By years end, most of the applications were 
ready to proceed.  

The District worked collaboratively with the City of 
Kelowna on a proposed boundary adjustment between 
Beaver Lake Rd and McCarthy Rd. This will see five 
properties transferred to the District. Expanding the 
District’s tax base and reducing future tax burdens 
for homeowners is a top priority and this is practical 
and important to the betterment of the Lake Country 
community.

Live! in Lake Country free concerts returned this summer 
with some amazing headliners like Andrew Johns and 
Cod Gone Wild, Dawson Gray and the Everly Brothers 
Tribute. These are great free events for community 
members to enjoy being outside with others and to 
take advantage of the wonderful summer weather we 
experience here in Lake Country.

As part of the Mobility Improvement Program, Council 
initiated road improvements on Pretty Road due to safety 
concerns and growth and development in the area. High 
traffic roads such as Glenmore Road, Okanagan Centre 
Road West and Sherman Drive were identified for Priority 
Pavement replacement and received resurfacing work.  

To aid our residents in FireSmart initiatives, the Lake 
Country Fire Department set up various yard waste 
disposal bins around the community. By being proactive 
and removing waste close to our homes, many residents 
took part in helping to reduce the risk of wildfire 
damage.  

With so many beautiful beaches and lakes to enjoy 
in our community, it’s important to ensure that they 
are accessible to all residents and visitors. Through 
collaboration with District staff and the Carr’s Landing 
Community & Recreation Association (CLCRA), Whiskey 
Cove and Gable Beach received various improvements, 
including the installation of a Mobi-Mat, allowing 
improved access to the beach and the water. On Wood 
Lake, an accessible fishing dock and kayak launch 
was installed, allowing people of all ages and abilities 
the chance to get on the water safely and enjoy the 
experience. This project was made possible because 
of funding collaboration from various organizations. 
It’s incredible that so many community members 
contributed and volunteered to make something like  
this a reality.   

Our most exciting news of the year was the District’s 
purchase of the BC Tree Fruits property at 9718 Bottom 
Wood Lake Road. Aside from the opportunities this will 
provide for recreational opportunities, this is a great 
option for the future home of the RCMP detachment, 
other community amenities and expanding the Winfield 
Arena. We are looking forward to engaging with the 
community to determine how the property is developed 
to reflect the long-term interests of the community. The 
purchase of this property was made possible with grant 
funding and reserves with no tax increase involved.  

2024 was an incredibly busy year for staff, Council, 
volunteers and community groups. I am grateful for 
everyone’s efforts to help contribute to make Lake 
Country such a desirable and welcoming place to live. 

Paul Gipps, CAO 

DISTRICT OF LAKE COUNTRY Annual Report 2024   |   9



LEADERSHIP TEAM

Organization Chart

MAYOR & COUNCIL
CHIEF  

ADMINISTRATIVE  
OFFICER

CORPORATE  
SERVICES

Customer Service
RCMP Liaison

INFRASTRUCTURE 
& DEVELOPMENT 

ENGINEERING

Development Engineering
Public Works

Fleet & Equipment
Solid Waste

Transit
Capital and Operation of  

Water
Drainage

Wastewater 
Mobility Systems

FINANCE & 
ADMINISTRATION

Finance
Communications

Human Resources & Safety
Information Technology

PARKS,  
RECREATION & 

CULTURE

Cultural Development
Economic Development

Parks & Facilities Operations
Recreation Infrastructure

PLANNING & 
DEVELOPMENT 

SERVICES

Current Planning
Long Range Planning
Building Inspection

Plan Checking
Bylaw Enforcement

PROTECTIVE  
SERVICES 

Fire Protection
Fire Inspection

Public Education

Paul Gipps,  
Chief Administrative Officer

Trevor James,  
Chief Financial Officer

Reyna Seabrook,  
Director of Corporate Services

Matthew Salmon,  
Director of Infrastructure & 
Development Engineering

Jeremy Frick,  
Director of Development 
Approvals

Matt Vader,  
Director of Parks,  
Recreation and Culture

Darren Lee,  
Fire Chief & Director of 
Protective Services

Brad Savoury,  
Director of Legal Services & 
Risk Management
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Finance and Administration 

MYLAKECOUNTRY.CA  
In July, the ability to 
make online payments 
was launched on 
MyLakeCountry. Residents 
can pay online for bylaw 
tickets, business Licenses, 
utility bills, building permits, 
property taxes and Community Development fees.  

Online applications are now available for business 
Licenses, open burn permits and backyard chicken 
registration.

Used Search Engine 
like Google 
60%Linked from  

an email  
3.7% 

Linked from 
another website 

4%

Linked from 
Social Media 

11.5%

Typing in URL 
16%

DISTRICT WEBSITE 
In August, the District launched a redesigned website 
(lakecountry.bc.ca). The updated look and improved 
navigation accommodates digital trends and better 
meets the needs of the community. Since launching in 
August, 174,000 visitors accessed the website. 

How do visitors find us?

E-NEWS
84 District e-news or notices sent to subscribers

4,530 Subscribers to District e-news

 SOCIAL MEDIA  
965,300 social media views 

Most popular Facebook post:

• September 26
• +380,500 views
• 2,100 reactions

VISITLAKECOUNTRY.CA
A dedicated website for tourism-related information 
that supports local businesses and attractions. The site 
provides information on the Farm Gate Trail, wine trail, 
things to do, where to stay and much more. 

• +4,200 visitors accessed the website

• ‘Experience Lake Country’ tourism video
    viewed over 530 times 

LET’S TALK 
Let’s Talk-Lake Country is the District’s 
online platform for citizen engagement 
and consultation. Opportunities that were 
available for public engagement in 2024: 

• Official community plan, 2024 update
• Lake Country development cost charges update
• District of Lake Country website design
• Small-scale multi-unit housing
• Carr’s Landing water servicing strategy
• 2025 draft budget & financial plan

Visitors arriving to the 
website from an email 
link sent by the District 
stay on the website an 
average of 1:00 minute 
(vs. the average time of 

.48 seconds from  
other traffic). 

DID  
YOU KNOW?

78.8% 
INCREASE IN  

REGISTERED USERS
(1,958 in 2023 & 3,500 in 2024)

605 
ONLINE PAYMENT 

TRANSACTIONS MADE
(from July-Dec 2024.)

DISTRICT OF LAKE COUNTRY Annual Report 2024   |   11



$22.4M+ 
PROPERTY TAX COLLECTED 

($20.2MILLION IN 2023) 

7,879 
PROPERTY TAX  

NOTICES ISSUED 
 (6,989 IN 2023)   

FAST FACTS 

Category Amount Percentage
Climate Adaptation / Disaster Risk Reduction $4,700,000 68.7%

Water Infrastructure / Conservation $1,140,000 16.7%

Emergency Preparedness / Fire Resiliency $320,000 4.7%

Transportation & Road Safety $510,000 7.5%

Environment & Energy Efficiency $21,430 0.3%

Local Government / Development / Jobs $147,385 2.2%

Total $6,838,815 100%

GRANTS 
In support of the strategic priority to diversify Lake 
Country’s tax base, the District of Lake Country continues 
to proactively pursue external grants to reduce reliance 
on local taxation. In 2024, the District submitted 24 
applications totaling $12.63 million and secured 17 
grants worth $6.8 million, including $5.55 million 
for the Beaver Lake Intake Tower Replacement. The 
grant process is a coordinated effort across multiple 
departments, requiring collaboration, expertise, and 
ongoing project alignment. Grants are cyclical and 
competitive, with results varying each year depending 
on factors such as elections, economic conditions, and 
policy changes. As the District looks to 2025, staff remain 
focused on strengthening agency relationships and 
identifying new funding opportunities.

Types of Grants/Programs Secured:

$6.8M+
SECURED FROM GRANT

$1.4M+ 
DIRECTLY ALLOCATED 
IN GRANT FUNDING

71% 
SUCCESS RATE ON  

GRANT APPLICATIONS

$8.35M 
TOTAL VALUE 
OF GRANTS 

17 
GRANTS AWARDED

FAST FACTS 

$7M 
UTILITY REVENUES 

($5.9M IN 2023)   

2,076 
REGISTERED UTILITY 

ACCOUNTS
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LAKE COUNTRY BUSINESS PARK 
Initially referred to as the Glenmore Industrial Park, 
however recently renamed to the Lake Country Business 
Park (to better reflect the future vision of the area). The 
area consists of 185 acres identified as future use for a 
Business Park. 

Having a business park in Lake Country will help achieve: 

• Expanded industrial tax base – this will bring some
relief to residential property owners.

• Upgrades and improvements to the mobility
network along with District services.

Major upgrades would be required to service the 
business park such as water, sewer, road network 
improvements. Creation of businesses and jobs 
within the community along with diversification of tax 
revenue. Currently the residential tax class makes up 
approximately 95% of the District’s Assessed value and 
delivers approximately 87% of the annual property taxes. 
The business park will create an opportunity for new 
business, jobs and diversification of the tax revenue. 

In 2024, Council approved moving ahead with an Area 
Structured Plan (ASP) which is required prior to rezoning 
the land for industrial purposes. The ASP and rezoning of 
the properties is scheduled to be completed by 2026.

McCoubrey
Plateau

LAKE COUNTRY TOURISM STRATEGY 
Lake Country received 100% funding from Destination 
British Columbia and Pacific Economic Development 
Canada to develop a 2024-2028 Community Tourism 
Strategy. Lions Gate Consulting facilitated the process 
with local stakeholders. The strategy will help prioritize 
tourism opportunities. It became clear through the 
process that the strategy was badly needed in order to 
prioritize opportunities.  
The strategy is divided into three categories that focus on:

People

• Organizing for implementation
• Collaborating effectively
• Fostering a positive business climate

Place 

• Strengthening our identity
• Building our capacity
• Stewarding our assets

Product

• Focusing on our trails
• Expanding compelling experiences
• Leveraging packages

Review the strategy at: www.lakecountry.bc.ca.

FAST FACTS 

135 
ACTIVE LICENCED  

SHORT TERM  
VACATION RENTALS

919 
BUSINESS LICENSES 
ISSUED (131 IN 2023)   
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Corporate Services 

2024 HIGHLIGHTS

In September, Mayor and Council attended the UBCM 
annual convention. The organization was formed to 
provide a common voice for local government and gives 
an opportunity for local governments of all sizes to  
come together, share their experiences and take a  
united position.

Mayor & Council together at UBCM.

RESPONSIBILITIES

Corporate Services administers Council agendas and minutes, bylaws, land negotiations, Freedom of Information 
requests, electoral processes, and customer service. Corporate Services also oversees clerical positions at the  
Lake Country RCMP Detachment. 

FAST FACTS

11 
FOI REQUESTS 

 (20 IN 2023) 

25 
BYLAWS 

ADOPTED 
(18 IN 2023) 

DID YOU KNOW? 

Mayor and Council form several Committees & 
Commissions with the intent to provide their advice on 
various issues that affect the community. The District has 
established the following: 

Accessibility Committee
The aim of this Committee is to provide insights into 
improving accessibility in Lake Country, as per the 
Accessible BC Act (ABCA).    

Agricultural Advisory Committee 
The AAC reviews Agricultural Land Commission 
applications and other land applications that affect 
agriculture. The Committee provides recommendations 
to Council when required. 

Parks & Recreation Advisory Committee 
PARC advises Council on parks, recreation, leisure 
services and culture issues. 

Public Art Advisory Commission
PAAC is established to advise Council on art, cultural and 
heritage issues. 

Water Services Advisory Committee 
WSAC advises Council on all water supply, distribution 
and protection issues. 

Interested in sitting on a committee? Contact admin@
lakecountry.bc.ca with your relevant background 
information, which committee you are interested in 
joining and the reasons for your interest. 
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Infrastructure & Development Engineering

RESPONSIBILITIES RESPONSIBILITIES 
Infrastructure and Development Engineering is 
responsible for operations and maintenance of District 
infrastructure. In 2024, the division created a specific 
Capital Projects team, to focus on long term
capital planning, asset management and project delivery.

Responsibilities of the division overall are:
• Capital and Operations Projects for Roads, 

Drainage, Water, and Wastewater
• Subdivision / land use servicing (Development 

Engineering)
• Fleet vehicles and equipment
• Road maintenance and public works
• Mobility and public transit
• Water distribution and treatment
• Wastewater collection and treatment plant 

operations and maintenance
• Solid waste and recycling operations

Pretty Road 
Improvements 
(construction)

Road and mobility 
improvements and 
watermain replacement.

Vernon Creek Intake Screens 
(replacement)

New self cleaning screens 
installed for safer and more 

efficient operations.

2024 INFRASTRUCTURE EXPENSES2024 INFRASTRUCTURE EXPENSES

Wastewater
$357,943

Water
$4,000,850

Transportation
$4,818,112

ON TIME
IN SCOPE
ON BUDGET

 CAPITAL PROGRAM

Beaver Lake Intake Phase 1 Coffer Dam 
Construction - Coffer Dam completed and siphon 
operating. The Beaver Lake Intake Tower controls 
water releases from Beaver Lake to Upper Vernon 
Creek. A review of the intake tower indicated 
complete replacement was necessary and 2024 
saw the first phase of construction begin. A coffer 
dam and bypass siphon system were constructed, 
which will allow for the intake tower and outlet 
structure to be replaced in 2025.

2024 PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS 2024 PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS 
• Treated Effluent Connection - City of Kelowna
• Bond Rd Mainline Valve Replacement
• Interim and Priority Pavement Renewal Program

In 2024, the District of Lake Country was awarded a 
grant from the Province of BC’s Community Emergency 
Preparedness Fund — Disaster Risk Reduction — Climate 
Adaptation funding stream in the amount of $4,550,000 
to reconstruct the Beaver Lake dam and intake structure.

Carr’s Landing Water Servicing Strategy
A Council initiative, this strategy consisted of extending 
the public water system into specific areas of Carr’s 
Landing. In September, after conducting public 
engagement with the community, Council and staff 
elected to pause until an expanded Implementation 
Plan that considers both community feedback and the 
financial capacity to expand the water system can be 
provided to residents.
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2024 POLICY AND REGULATORY UPDATES2024 POLICY AND REGULATORY UPDATES
• Subdivision and Development Servicing Bylaw
• Preliminary Layout Review (PLR) Policy

2024 PLANS, STUDIES AND DESIGN
• Transit Study Phase 3
• Public Works Needs Assessment
• Integrated Storm Water Management Plan Phase 2
• Liquid Waste Management Plan stage 2
• Water Conservation Plan 2024
• Lodge Road Improvements Design
• Dam Safety Review - Damer Lake Watershed

Protection Plan - Beaver and Oyama Lake
• Water Management Plan stage 2

FEATURED PARTNERSHIP

The District of Lake Country and 
BC Hydro partnered to construct 
an Electric Vehicle (EV) charging 
hub at the north end of Pelmewash 
Parkway. This hub is the largest in 
BC Hydro’s network – providing 
space for up to 22 EVs to charge at 
the same time and debuted the 
company’s first 350-kilowatt charger.

“This new electric vehicle charging hub in Lake Country 
will support EV adoption in the Okanagan as we continue 
our work with BC Hydro and other partners to make 
cleaner options more accessible and affordable for all 
British Columbians,” Adrian Dix, Minister of Energy and 
Climate Solutions, said. 

MOBILITY PROJECTS:
• Woodsdale - Pelmewash AT connection design
• Woodsdale Road improvements

PRIORITY PAVING PROJECTS
• Sherman Dr from Lodge Rd to Pheasant Rd
• Okanagan Centre Rd W from McCoubrey Rd

to 8555 Okanagan Centre Rd W
• Glenmore Road from Chase Road south to

the District Boundary

INTERIM PAVING PROJECTS
• Seaton Rd
• Camp Rd from 1960 Camp Rd to Tyndall Rd
• Camp Rd from Seaton Rd to Okanagan

Centre Rd E

VARIOUS PATCHES
• Oyama Rd near MP Williams Hill
• Carr’s Landing Rd
• Camp Rd patch

DITCH MAINTENANCE PROJECTS
• Camp Rd from Okanagan Centre W to

Davidson Rd
• Carr’s Landing Rd
• Okanagan Center Rd W

1,465 
VEHICLES ATTENDED POP-UP 

RECYCLING DEPOTS FROM 
MARCH – SEPTEMBER 

(1,032 IN 2023)

973 
SERVICE CALLS 

RECEIVED IN 2024

211 
CUBIC METERS OF ‘DEPOT 

ONLY’ RECYCLING MATERIAL 
COLLECTED (108 IN 2023)

6.5 
KILOMETRES 

OF ROADS 
PAVED

106 
KILOMETRES OF 

ROAD LINES 
PAINTED

1,178 
CATCH BASINS 

CLEANED

FAST FACTS FAST FACTS 

77 
STREETLIGHTS 

REPAIRED
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WATER & WASTEWATERWATER & WASTEWATER
Water and Wastewater services—also known as 
Utilities—were amalgamated into the Infrastructure  
and Development Engineering department in 2024 as 
part of a District reorganization. This integration has led 
to more efficient operations and greater opportunities 
for cross-training, multidisciplinary collaboration, and 
long-term strategic planning. The Utilities division 
is responsible for the operation, maintenance, 
and construction of critical water and wastewater 
infrastructure, supporting the District’s commitment  
to use water wisely and return it safely.

2024 WATER DEMANDS PER MONTH

608,979 M3

TOTAL TREATED 
WASTEWATER  

(686,858 M3 IN 2023) 

4,066
RESIDENTIAL SANITARY 
 WASTEWATER SYSTEMS 

(3,915 IN 2023)

5,504
RESIDENTIAL WATER 

CONNECTIONS 
(5,238 IN 2023)

12,390
ESTIMATED 

 PEOPLE SERVED

FAST FACTS FAST FACTS 

4
WASTEWATER 

SYSTEMS IN THE 
DISTRICT 

6
WATER SYSTEMS 

IN THE  
DISTRICT

2024 WATER DEMANDS PER AREA

Beaver Lake 
26.6%

Okanagan Lake 
36%

Lake Pine 
0.9%

Coral Beach 
0.3%

Oyama Creek 
17.3%

Kalamalka Lake 
18.6%
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2024 WATER AND WASTEWATER HIGHLIGHTS2024 WATER AND WASTEWATER HIGHLIGHTS

FAST FACTS FAST FACTS 

4
PUMP 

HOUSES

7
BOOSTER 
STATIONS
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Planning & Development Services

RESPONSIBILITIES 
Planning and Development Services is responsible for 
guiding the growth and development of the community 
while addressing matters such as urban sprawl, agriculture, 
social inequality, and the environment. This department 
includes land use planning, as well as development 
applications, building permits, and related functions.

2024 BUILDING PERMIT HIGHLIGHTS
• Habitat for Humanity (12 homes)
• YMCA Child Care at George Elliot Secondary

(81 spaces)
• Lake Country Food Bank addition

2024 PLANS, STUDIES & BYLAWS
• 2024 Interim Housing Needs Assessment
• Purpose-Built Rental Housing Incentive Bylaw
• OCP Bylaw Amendment to introduce new

Development Permit exemptions
• Zoning Bylaw Amendment to Introduce

Small-Scale Multiple Unit Housing
• New Development Approval Procedures Bylaw

to streamline application processing

District Bylaw Officers on National  Day of Truth & 
Reconciliation

Bylaw Services are responsible for enforcing the rules 
and regulations (bylaws) set by local government. Their 
purpose is to ensure public safety, maintain community 
standards, and preserve the quality of life for residents. 
Our Bylaw Officers do this through a combination of 
education, information, and enforcement actions.

BYLAW SERVICES

FAST FACTS

1037 
CALLS FOR SERVICE 

ADDRESSED TO BYLAW 
(918 IN 2023) 
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2024 HIGHLIGHTS 

Application 
Type

Planning File Summary 2024
January to June 30th July 1 to December 31 Total

Received Resolved* Received Resolved* Resolved* 

Zoning Amendment 7 3 9 3 6

Temporary Use Permit 2 0 2 1 1

OCP Amendment 3 0 2 1 1

ALR Applications 1 5 4 1 6

Development Variance Permit 3 4 7 5 9

Development Permits 5 10 4 8 18

Referrals 6 6 2 1 7

Sign Permits 4 3 4 4 7

Covenant Applications 0 0 1 3 3

Total 31 32 35 27 58

Considered by Council - 14 - 17 31

Considered by Staff - 17 - 10 27
* File Closed / Cancelled

Yearly Building Statistics
2024 2023 2022

Category Permit Value Permit Value Permit Value

Single Family Dwelling 28 32,473,838 27 38,189,767 45 38,809,000

Commercial 3 5,385,000 0 0 14 3,382,913.51

Agriculture 0 0 1 25,000 9 632,400

Industrial 2 4,285,669 1 96,000 0 0

Institutional 0 0 1 200,000 6 2,287,700

Multi-Family Dwelling* 9 37,996,000 23 59,165,245 6 12,825,000

*Other 219 30,342,488 137 12,490,268 180 10,709,828

Total Permits/Values 233 110,482,995 190 110,141,281 260 68,646,841.93

*Multi-Family dwelling permits represent the number of permits issued rather than the number of units constructed. One multi-family dwelling
permit may consist of two or more units.
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Parks, Recreation and Culture Parks, Recreation and Culture 

RESPONSIBILITIES 
Parks, Recreation and Culture is responsible for building 
and maintaining the District’s parks, public green spaces 
and recreational spaces. They coordinate recreation 
opportunities, the community theatre (Creekside), Live! 
In Lake Country outdoor performances and public art and 
cultural events. This department is also responsible for 
facility maintenance and operations. 

2024 HIGHLIGHTS 

309 
RECREATION 
PROGRAMS 
 (253 IN 2023) 

8
LIVE! IN  

LAKE COUNTRY 
PERFORMANCES 

 (8 IN 2023)  

1,733 
DROP IN’S TO 

RECREATIONAL 
PROGRAMS 
 (858 IN 2023)  

33 
CREEKSIDE THEATRE 

PERFORMANCES 
 (39 IN 2023) 

FAST FACTS 

Accessible outdoor recreation opportunities 
The accessible dock and kayak launch was installed 
on Wood Lake thanks to funding collaboration. Of the 
$83,000 project, $30,000 was contributed by Freshwater 
Fisheries Society of BC through the Province of British 
Columbia Destination Development Fund, $18,000 was 
contributed by the Rotary Club of Lake Country and 
$18,000 was contributed by the Oceola Fish and Game 
Club (OFGC). Additionally, Sonja Gaudet, accessibility 
specialist with Thompson Okanagan Tourism Association, 
provided valuable accessibility design input.

Lake Country Food Bank additional space 
The food bank expanded to include a warehouse and 
open market, allowing volunteers more space to work 
and organize food for those in need. 

L-R: Nick Kozub, Oceola Fish & Game Club past president
and BC Wildlife Federation (BCWF) Region 8 President,
Sandy Wightman and Ken Guido, Rotary Club of
Lake Country, Mike Gass, Manager of Sport Fishing
Development, BC Freshwater Fisheries Society, Lake
Country Mayor Blair Ireland

Mayor Ireland and Joy Haxton, Lake Country Food Bank 
executive director cutting the ribbon to officially open 
the new addition to the food bank building along with 
volunteers and other community leaders. 

Oyama washrooms on Okanagan Rail Trail  
Thanks to a very generous private donation, the District 
was able to design and construct two washroom stalls 
along the Rail Trail beside Wood Lake in Oyama. The 
artwork on the side of the building was is by Daniel 
Dearborn and depicts the scenic Oyama isthmus located 
between Wood Lake and Kalamalka Lake.  
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126 
EXTERNAL SERVICE  
REQUESTS PLACED

(Parks, facility maintenance,  
vandalism and dangerous trees.)

655 
FIELD  

RENTALS

125 
LAKE COUNTREE  

TREES SOLD 
 (100 IN 2023)

FAST FACTS 

Lake Country Bike Park (construction)
The 2023 Sports & Recreation Needs Assessment 
identified a bike skills park as a high priority outdoor 
amenity type for the community. Trail design and 
construction began in 2024 to incorporate features such as: 

• beginner and intermediate pump tracks,
• drop zone with three lines for intermediate to 

expert riders,
• multi-use and gravity trails, 
• much jump for practicing big air and,
• an adaptive mountain bike trail for greater inclusivity

Whiskey Cove Park receives accessible upgrades
A Mobi-Mat, along with the addition of a demarked swim 
area and relocation of the swim raft at Gable Beach, 
was installed to help improve beach access. The non-
slip walkway, a Mobi-Mat is a non-slip walkway made 
of recycled material. It is expected the mat will provide 
improved access to kayakers, wagons, strollers and 
anyone with accessibility requirements to help negotiate 
the pebbled beach. 

The newly installed Mobi-Mat leading from the pebbled 
beach into Okanagan Lake. 

Outdoor Sports Court installed at NEXUS Activity Hub 
The new multi-use outdoor sports court is located 
between the Winfield Arena and the MAC building. The 
court is unprogrammed and open for use by everyone.   

Live! In Lake Country performances are popular events for 
the community to enjoy free of charge in Swalwell Park 
every Friday in July and August.
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Protective Services 

LAKE COUNTRY FIRE DEPARTMENT 
In 2024, the LCFD received $320,000 in Grants: $200,000 for FireSmart Programs, $80,000 for Emergency Management, 
and $40,000 for Personal Protective Equipment.

Career Staffing  
& POC Response

FireSmart &  
Fuel Management

UBCM Grants &  
25 Year Fleet Plan

Smoke Alarms  
& Public Education

George Elliot 
Secondary School 

Fire Academy

PROACTIVE SERVICE AREAS

INCIDENT & 
RESPONSE 
VOLUME

  Incidents
  Responses*

*Response indicates the number of 
units responding to an incident.

2022 2023 2024

85
5

10
43

98
1

26
58

32
63

31
99

2024 EMERGENCY INCIDENTS BY TYPE

Alarms 11.6% 

Fires & 
Wildfires 
17.3% 

Other Emergencies 6.5%

MVI & Rescue 9.8%

Medical First 
Response 54.6%

  114 Alarms
  170 Fires & Wildfires
  536 Medical First Response  

  97 MVI & Rescue   
  64 Other Emergencies

981  Total Emergency Incidents  

  Property Directly at Risk of Fire Damage
  Property Lost to Fire Damage
  Property Saved from Fire Damage

$40M

$35M

$30M

$25M

$20M

$15M

$10M

$5M

$0
2022 2023 2024

FIRE LOSS DATA

FIRE INVESTIGATION  REPORTS

0

31

23

40

1 2

  Provincial 
Fire Reports

  Fire Related 
Civilian Injuries

53% of homes in BC that experience a fire do not have 
a working smoke alarm (2023 OFC Annual Report). 

2022 2023 2024
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2024 FIRESMART  
VEGETATION DISPOSAL  
BIN PILOT PROGRAM 

In 2024, recycling bins were made available 
at various locations around the community. 
This pilot program provided residents a 
means to dispose of vegetation that they 
removed from around their homes to help 
reduce their wildfire risk. 

2024 FIRE PREVENTION ACTIVITIES BY TYPE 

9.1%  FireSmart 
Assessments

16%  FireSmart 
Bins (New Q2)

29%   
Burning Permits

9.8%  DLC Referrals  
Fire Inspections 

27.1%

Smoke Alarms 
(New Q2)  4.7%

Public Education   
4.1%

  95 DLC Referrals
  88 FireSmart Assessments
  155 FireSmart Bins (New Q2)
  281 Burning Permits

  40 Public Education  
  46 Smoke Alarms (New Q2)   
  262 Fire Inspections    

967 Total Prevention Events  

Location Bins Kgs

10247 Sherman Dr 8 6,430

11063 Okanagan 
Centre Rd East 51 64,640

13203 Eastridge Dr 8 6,930

15570 Kalwood Rd 18 22,080

16625 Commonage Rd 21 20,130

1960 Camp Rd 22 29,580

3774 Woodsdale Rd 17 23,390

4211 Evans Rd 10 10,160

17365 Coral Beach Rd 4 3,360

TOTAL 159 186,700

School District 23 Firefighter Boot Camp
(12 Secondary School Participants) 

2024 New Recruit Class
(11 New Recruits Graduated)

BC Firefighter Minimum Training 
Standard
(Live Fire Training & Driver-Operator Training)

BC Wildfire Service Training
(Wildland Firefighter & Engine Boss) 

BC Emergency Health Services Training
(First Responder Schedule II Upgrades) 

Regional Rescue Training
(Hazmat, Vehicle Rescue & Ice Rescue)

Legacy Leadership Fund Scholarships
(5 Post Secondary Scholarships Awarded)

2024 FIREFIGHTER TRAINING ACTIVITIES
175 official training events were scheduled or conducted in 2024. 
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Fig. 2 – Shows the number of CSI-Reportable Occurrences per Month for the District of Lake 
Country from 2020 to 2024. More information on what consists a CSI-Reportable Occurrence 
can be found on the Statistics Canada website.

Quesnel

Sechelt

Merritt

Williams Lake

Coldstream

Summerland

View Royal

Terrace

Dawson Creek

Sidney
North Saanich

Parksville
Powell River

Whistler

Comox

Sooke

Lake Country

Port Alberni

Salmon Arm

Pitt Meadows

Colwood

Cranbrook

Fort St. John

White Rock

$100

$200

$300

$400

$500

10,000 12,000 14,000 16,000 18,000 20,000 22,000 24,000

M
un

ic
ip

al
 C

os
ts

 P
er

 C
ap

ita

Population

Fig. 1 – Shows Cost per Capita of policing services and populations for various municipalities in 
the year 2023. The figure includes the District of Lake Country and 24 other BC municipalities 
with populations between 10,000 and 25,000. Data is sourced from the Ministry of Public 
Safety and Solicitor General’s report “Police Resources in British Columbia, 2023”.

SUPPORTING LOCAL RCMP

The District provides municipal support staff to meet the administrative needs of the  
District of Lake Country’s RCMP. In 2024, while staffing shortages continued to be a challenge,  
District staff engage in critical work supporting the RCMP detachment in Lake Country.
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FAST FACTS 

3,435 
OPERATIONAL 

FILES REVIEWED 
AND CLOSED

1,557 
VIOLATION  

TICKETS

175 
POLICE 

INFORMATION 
CHECKS

145 
STATEMENT 

TRANSCRIPTIONS

107 
IMPAIRED  
DRIVING
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Financials 

RELEVANT OBSERVATIONS
A net financial position indicates the extent that net financial resources are 
available to fund future operations and expenditures. In 2024 the District 
moved to a net financial position of $11.4 million compared to $17.4 million 
in 2023. While this is a significant decrease from the prior year it is largely 
due to the timing of the purchase of tangible capital assets, $21.4 million in 
2024 compared with $10.4 million in 2023. The net financial position is in 
line with expectations based on timing of capital asset purchases.

The following chart shows the trend of net financial assets over the years:

 

 

This is consistent with the timing of significant capital expenditures: 

 

REPORT FROM CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Our auditors, BDO LLP, have audited the 2024 financial statements and 
provided an unmodified (clean) audit opinion. The full financial statements 
were presented to Council by BDO LLP and by management at the May 6, 
2025 Regular Council meeting.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles for local governments following 
recommendations and guidance provided by Public Sector Accounting 
Standards (PSAS).

Trevor James,  
Chief Financial Officer 
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2024 revenues were $48.0m compared to $49.2m 
budget. This 2.4% difference is largely explained by:

• Government transfers $4.7m compared to budget 
of $5.9m largely due to a capital grant being 
budgeted for 2024 but carried forward to occur in 
2025 (indigenous cultural centre).

• Developer contributions $1.9m compared to 
budget of $4.3m due to multiple capital projects 
funded by Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) 
budgeted for 2024 but carried forward to 2025.

• This was partially offset by Interest on 
Investments at $2.4m compared to budget of 
$1.2m due to higher investment returns than 
budget.

2024 revenues were $3.8m lower than 2023 ($48.0m vs. 
$51.8m) primarily due to:

• $6.8m Growing Communities Fund grant in 2023 

• Offset partially by 9.5% tax increase plus growth 
resulted in $2.2m of additional taxation revenue

 

 

 

2024 revenues were $48.0m compared to $49.2m budget. This 2.4% diWerence is largely explained 
by: 

• Government transfers $4.7m compared to budget of $5.9m largely due to a capital grant 
being budgeted for 2024 but carried forward to occur in 2025 (indigenous cultural centre). 

• Developer contributions $1.9m compared to budget of $4.3m due to multiple capital 
projects funded by Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) budgeted for 2024 but carried 
forward to 2025. 

• This was partially oWset by Interest on Investments at $2.4m compared to budget of $1.2m 
due to higher investment returns than budget. 

 

2024 revenues were $3.8m lower than 2023 ($48.0m vs. $51.8m) primarily due to: 

• $6.8m Growing Communities Fund grant in 2023  
• OWset partially by 9.5% tax increase plus growth resulted in $2.2m of additional taxation 

revenue 
 

2024 expenses of $39.2m were $1.2m higher than budget of $38.0m. This 3.1% variance is largely 
due to amortization of capital assets of $6.4m compared to budget of $4.9m slightly oWset by 
expenses being slightly under budget on an overall basis. Given the non-cash nature of 
amortization and its non-impact on taxation rates, it has not been overly scrutinized as part of the 

This is consistent with the timing of significant capital expenditures:

2024 expenses of $39.2m were $1.2m higher than 
budget of $38.0m. This 3.1% variance is largely due to 
amortization of capital assets of $6.4m compared to 
budget of $4.9m slightly offset by expenses being slightly 
under budget on an overall basis. Given the non-cash 
nature of amortization and its non-impact on taxation 
rates, it has not been overly scrutinized as part of the 
budget process and as such has lagged behind actual 
amortization. Changes to budgeting for 2025 have taken 
place to more accurately budget for amortization. Please 
see “2024 Expenses Budget to Actual” for a breakdown 
by department.
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2024 expenses of $39.2m came in $2.6m higher than 
$36.7m of 2023 expenses.  This 7.0% increase was 
expected due to increases in RCMP and transit costs 
among general inflationary and supply chain increases. 
Please see table “2024 Actual to 2023 Actual” for 
breakdown by department. 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Some items that are unique to PSAS financial reporting as 
follows:

• Separation of financial assets and non-financial 
assets – in typical financial statements of a 
business, a balance sheet is separated into 
three main categories – assets, liabilities, and 
shareholders’ equity.  In public sector financial 
statements, total assets are not specifically 
presented.  Assets are separated between 
“financial” assets and “non-financial” assets:

o Financial Assets are assets that generate 
cash flow and can be used to repay 
liabilities.  Financial Assets include cash and 
cash equivalents and accounts receivables.

o Non-Financial Assets generally do not 
provide cash flow and include tangible 
capital assets and other assets that are 
utilized on a continuing basis for public 
purposes having a useful life beyond one 
year.  These assets are reflected at net book 
value (initial cost less amortization to date) 
and not intended to be sold in the normal 
course of operations.  

• Net Debt or Net Financial Assets – With this 
separation of financial assets and non-financial 
assets, a performance measure unique to public 
sector financial statements results.  The difference 
between financial assets and liabilities either 
reflects a “net debt” or “net financial asset” 
position.

o Net Debt – A net debt position indicates 
the extent that debt and other liabilities 
have been taken on by the municipality to 
fund the delivery of services, investments 
in tangible capital assets and other 
transactions.  Future revenue streams need 
to contemplate the requirement to repay 
debt obligations as they come due based on 
established repayment terms. 

o Net Financial Assets – A net financial asset 
position indicates the extent that net 
financial resources are available to fund 
future operations and spending. 

o The net debt and net financial assets will 
fluctuate from year to year depending on 
how much is spent on capital and how much 
surplus is recognized.  However, the District 
should continue to see a net financial asset 
position as the reserves are held in line with 
the Reserve Policy adopted by Council.

• Accumulated Surplus or Deficit – the 
accumulated sum of non-financial assets and 
net financial assets.  The District is in a “surplus” 
position.  The surplus position reflects that net 
financial and physical resources are available 
to provide future services.  If an entity was in 
a net deficit position, this would reflect that 
future revenues are required to finance historical 
operations.

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND 
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

This statement provides the budgeted and actual 
revenues and expenses of the District for the fiscal year.  
Revenues are presented by their sources of funds (i.e. 
taxation, user fees, government transfers, etc.)  Expenses 
are presented by function or major program (i.e. 
Protective services, Water, Sewer, etc.)  The accumulated 
surplus represents the accumulated results experienced 
by the District over the years.
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2024 EXPENSES BUDGET TO ACTUAL

Expenses 2024 Budget 2024 Actual
Difference in 

Budget vs. 
Actual

% Difference 
in Budget vs. 

Actual
Comments

General 
Government 
Services 

4,826,865 5,488,597 661,732 14%

$415,709 of actual amortization 
compared to budget of $162,878. 
$59,326 of accretion expense related to 
asset retirement obligations. Increase in 
contracted services along with associated 
increase in grant revenue. Additional 
wages and benefits associated with 
departmental realignments (with offsets 
in other departments.)

Protective 
Services 8,339,013 7,763,211 (635,802) -8%

Came in under budget due to actual 
RCMP FTEs of 14.78 compared to budget 
of 20.

Transportation 
Services 7,056,113 7,358,905 302,792 4%

Comparable to budget, $2.1m of actual 
amortization compared to budget of 
$1.7m.

Environmental 
Services 2,088,027 2,241,356 153,329 7%

See in conjunction with Planning & 
Development Services positive variance, 
difference primarily due to change in FTE 
coding.

Planning and 
Development 
Services 

1,996,491 1,882,578 (113,913) -6%
See in conjunction with Environmental 
Services negative variance, difference 
primarily due to change in FTE coding.

Parks and 
Recreation 
Services 

5,358,007 5,900,784 542,777 10%

$997,705 of actual amortization 
compared with $613,358 budgeted. 
$277,244 of performance fees at 
Creekside Theatre compared to $80,000 
budget. However, there was also 
programming revenues of $306,657 
compared to budget of $90,000 
associated with these events.

Water Services      4,870,985 4,970,003 99,018 2%
$1.3m of amortization compared to 
$1.1m budgeted. Otherwise comparable 
to budget.

Sewer Services 2,464,409 2,618,008 153,599 6%
$846,582 of amortization compared 
with $626,475 budgeted. Otherwise 
comparable to budget.

Interest 
Expense 984,139 1,011,314 27,175 3%

Interest expense slightly higher than 
budget due to increase in interest paid 
on prepaid taxes due to higher interest 
rates

TOTAL 38,044,049 39,234,756 1,190,707 3%
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EXPENSES - 2024 ACTUAL TO 2023 ACTUAL

Expenses 2024 Actual 2023 Actual
Difference 

in Actual vs. 
Prior Year

% Difference 
in Actual vs. 

Prior Year
Comments

General 
Government 
Services 

5,488,597 4,826,944 661,653 14%

Amortization of $415,709 compared to 
$369,291. Additional budgeted FTEs. 
Other increased costs anticipated in 
budget surrounding materials and 
supplies, contracted services etc.

Protective 
Services 7,763,211 7,708,494 54,717 1%

Higher contracted services for RCMP 
offset by less firefighting wages than 
2023 related to summer 2023 fires.

Transportation 
Services 7,358,905 6,708,689 650,216 10%

Increase from $1,961,332 in amortization 
to $2,119,264. Inflationary increases 
to contracted services such as road 
maintenance services contract. $334,000 
increase in Transit contract.

Environmental 
Services 2,241,356 1,921,618 319,738 17%

Increases in hydro plant and garbage and 
recycling contract costs, change in FTE 
coding.

Planning and 
Development 
Services 

1,882,578 1,722,257 160,321 9% Staffing vacancies during 2023 compared 
to 2024, change in FTE coding.

Parks and 
Recreation 
Services 

5,900,784 5,700,551 200,233 4%

Minor increase in line with budgeted  
increases due to rising costs of materials, 
supplies, utilities, contracted services. 
Higher theatre performance fees (along 
with higher revenues).

Water Services 4,970,003 4,546,650 423,353 9%

Higher than prior year due to higher 
material/supply costs as well as 
additional users. $76,000 additional 
amortization.

Sewer Services 2,618,008 2,409,419 208,589 9%

Higher than prior year due to higher 
material/supply costs as well as 
additional users. $120,000 additional 
amortization.

Interest 
Expense 1,011,314 1,111,118 (99,804) -9% Less interest due to maturity of some 

loans.
Total 39,234,756 36,655,740 2,579,016 7%

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET DEBT

Explains the changes in net debt, reconciling the opening 
to the closing balance of net debt reported in the 
Statement of Financial Position.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Explains the changes to cash and cash equivalents, 
reconciling the opening to the closing balance of cash 
and cash equivalents reported in the Statement of 
Financial Position.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL  
STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES

Provides further details on information provided in the 
financial statements noted above.  

Schedule 1 – Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets

Summary of changes to the net book value of all District 
tangible capital assets and work in progress held by 
category.

Schedule 2 – Schedule of Accumulated Surplus

Summary of changes to reserves as well as the net 
investment in tangible capital assets.

Schedule 3 – Schedule of Segment Disclosure

Further details of the use of financial resources (revenue 
and expenses) by the District by function or segment.

Schedule 4 – Schedule of COVID-19 Restart Grant

This is a schedule required for the acceptance of the 
COVID-19 Safe Restart Grant received in November 
2020 from the Provincial Government.  This grant was 
recorded as revenue for 2020 with the amount not spent 
in 2020 moved into the financial stabilization reserve 
with the amount being drawn down as it gets spent.

Schedule 5 – Schedule of Growing Communities  
Fund Grant

This is a schedule required for the acceptance of the 
Growing Communities Fund Grant received in March 
2023 from the Provincial Government.  This grant was 
recorded as revenue for 2023 and then transferred into 
its own “Growing Communities Fund Reserve” where the 
amount will be drawn down as it gets spent.

Schedule 6 – Schedule of Local Government Housing 
Initiatives Grant

This is a schedule required for the acceptance of the 
Local Government Housing Initiatives Grant received 
in January 2024 from the Provincial Government.  This 
grant was recorded as revenue for 2024 and then 
transferred into the financial stabilization reserve where 
the amount will be drawn down as it gets spent. 

CANADIAN AWARD FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

Government Finance Officers Association of the United 
States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Canadian Award 
for Financial Reporting to the District of Lake Country 
for its annual financial report for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2023. The Canadian Award for Financial 
Reporting program was established to encourage 
municipal governments throughout Canada to publish 
high quality financial reports and to provide peer 
recognition and technical guidance for officials preparing 
these reports.

In order to be awarded a Canadian Award for Financial 
Reporting, a government unit must publish an easily 
readable and efficiently organized annual financial 
report, whose contents conform to program standards. 
Such reports should go beyond the minimum 
requirements of generally accepted accounting principles 
and demonstrate an effort to clearly communicate the 
municipal government’s financial picture, enhance 
an understanding of financial reporting by municipal 
governments, and address user needs.

A Canadian Award for 
Financial Reporting is 
valid for a period of one 
year only.  We believe 
our current report 
continues to conform 
to the Canadian Award 
for Financial Reporting 
program requirements, 
and we are (will be) 
submitting it to GFOA to 
determine its eligibility 
for another award.

Respectfully Submitted,
Trevor James, CPA, CA
CFO, Director of Finance & Administration

 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Trevor James, CPA, CA 

CFO, Director of Finance & Administration 

DISTRICT OF LAKE COUNTRY Annual Report 2024   |   31



2024 
DISTRICT OF LAKE COUNTRY 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 



Municipal Hall 
10150 Bottom Wood Lake Road 
Lake Country, BC V4V 2M1 
Tel: 250-766-5650 
Fax: 250-766-0116 

 

May 6, 2025 

Mayor and Council 
District of Lake Country 

Mayor Ireland and Council, 

In accordance with Section 167 of the Community Charter, I am pleased to present the 2024 Annual Financial 
Statements of the District of Lake Country for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024. These statements 
include the Independent Auditors’ Report, the financial statements and the notes and schedules to the financial 
statements for the District of Lake Country. 

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 were prepared by the District in accordance with 
Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards. The integrity and objectivity of these statements are management’s 
responsibility. Management is also responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of good internal 
controls to safeguard the District’s assets and to provide reasonable assurance that reliable and consistent 
financial information is provided. 

Council is responsible for ensuring management fulfills its responsibility for financial reporting and internal 
control. 

The auditors, BDO Canada LLP, conduct an independent examination, in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards, and express their opinion regarding the Annual Financial Statements. The audit was 
planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from 
material error or misstatement. 

The District strives to ensure that services are effectively and efficiently delivered to meet Council’s and the 
community’s goals and vision. The District is committed to providing sound financial management and long-term 
strategic planning to achieve these objectives. 

Respectively submitted, 

Trevor James, CPA, CA 
Chief Financial Officer 
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BDO Canada LLP
1631 Dickson Avenue, Suite 400
Kelowna, BC V1Y 0B5

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Taxpayers of the District of Lake Country

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the District of Lake Country (the "District"), which comprise
the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024, and the statement of changes in net
financial assets, statement of operations and accumulated surplus, and statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes and schedules to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the District as at December 31, 2024, and its results of operations and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Other Matter

We have not audited, reviewed or otherwise attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of
Schedules 4, 5 and 6 on pages 29 to 31 of these financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the District in accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the District’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the District or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the District’s financial reporting process.



Tel:  250 763 6700
Fax:  250 763 4457
www.bdo.ca

BDO Canada LLP
1631 Dickson Avenue, Suite 400
Kelowna, BC V1Y 0B5

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District's internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the District’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the District to cease to continue
as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants

Kelowna, British Columbia
May 6, 2025
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District of Lake Country
Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31 2024 2023

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) $ 39,152,070 $ 47,733,177

Accounts receivable (Note 6) 8,128,159 6,057,501

47,280,229 53,790,678

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 7) 6,584,599 8,368,736

Security deposits 2,757,596 2,866,961

Deferred revenue (Note 8) 3,218,244 2,945,627

Restricted revenue (Note 9) 5,628,196 3,293,155

Long-term debt (Note 10) 16,974,916 18,345,447

Asset retirement obligation liability (Note 11) 739,006 558,799

35,902,557 36,378,725

Net financial assets 11,377,672 17,411,953

Non-financial assets

Tangible capital assets (Schedule 1) 237,192,814 221,928,322

Prepaid expenses 106,096 545,247

Accumulated surplus (Schedule 2) $ 248,676,582 $ 239,885,522

Contingent liabilities and commitments (Note 12)

Trevor James, CPA, CA Blair Ireland
Chief Financial Officer Mayor

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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District of Lake Country
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

For the year ended December 31 2024 Budget * 2024 Actual 2023 Actual

Revenue

Taxation (Note 13) $ 25,411,104 $ 25,411,940 $ 23,211,440

Utility revenues 6,201,262 7,006,826 5,924,244

Services provided to other governments 859,442 840,015 813,571

Sale of services 3,197,733 3,237,857 4,228,904

Permits and licences 1,620,500 1,645,525 1,315,749

Interest on Investments 1,217,069 2,386,944 2,383,888

Government transfers (Note 14) 5,864,795 4,720,442 8,682,479

Developer contributions 4,308,075 1,862,777 4,021,652

Other revenue 526,464 913,490 1,202,509

49,206,444 48,025,816 51,784,436

Expenses

General Government Services 4,826,865 5,488,597 4,826,944

Protective Services 8,399,013 7,763,211 7,708,494

Transportation Services 7,056,113 7,358,904 6,708,689

Environmental Services 2,088,027 2,241,357 1,921,618

Planning and Development Services 1,996,491 1,882,578 1,722,257

Parks and Recreation Services 5,358,007 5,900,784 5,700,551

Water Services 4,870,985 4,970,003 4,546,650

Sewer Services 2,464,409 2,618,008 2,409,419

Interest expense 984,139 1,011,314 1,111,118

38,044,049 39,234,756 36,655,740

Annual surplus 11,162,395 8,791,060 15,128,696

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 239,885,522 239,885,522 224,756,826

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 251,047,917 $ 248,676,582 $ 239,885,522

* Note 3

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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District of Lake Country
Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets

For the Year Ended December 31 2024 Budget 2024 Actual 2023 Actual

Unrestricted annual surplus $ 11,162,395 $ 8,791,060 $ 15,128,696

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (38,284,384) (21,436,253) (10,429,981)

Developer contribution of tangible capital assets - (91,080) (1,030,095)

Amortization of tangible capital assets 4,867,468 6,360,172 5,991,423

Increase in tangible capital assets due to asset
retirement obligations - (111,515) (532,291)

Net gain on disposal of tangible capital assets - (132,916) (389,661)

Proceeds from disposal of tangible capital assets 7,600 147,100 402,637

Acquisition of prepaid expenses - 439,151 (445,353)

(Decrease)/increase in net financial assets (22,246,921) (6,034,281) 8,695,375

Net financial assets, beginning of year 17,411,953 17,411,953 8,716,578

Net financial assets, end of year $ (4,834,968) $ 11,377,672 $ 17,411,953

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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District of Lake Country
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31 2024 2023

Net inflow (outflow) of cash and cash equivalents related to the following
activities

Operating activities

Annual surplus for the year $ 8,791,060 $ 15,128,696

Adjustment for non-cash items

Amortization of tangible capital assets 6,360,172 5,991,423

Accretion of asset retirement obligations 68,692 26,508

Developer contribution of tangible capital assets (91,080) (1,030,095)

Net gain on disposal of tangible capital assets (132,916) (389,661)

Actuarial adjustment on long-term debt (350,566) (305,824)

Acquisition of prepaid expenses 439,151 (445,353)

Increase/(decrease) in

Accounts receivable (2,070,658) (469,385)

Accounts payable (1,784,137) 1,827,390

Security deposits (109,365) (563,803)

Deferred revenue 272,617 (33,731)

11,392,970 19,736,165

Financing activities

Restricted revenue development cost charges, net 2,335,041 (410,623)

Restricted revenue parkland acquisition funds - 82,050

Repayment of long-term debt (1,019,965) (1,014,859)

1,315,076 (1,343,432)

Capital activities

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (21,436,253) (10,429,981)

Proceeds from disposal of tangible capital assets 147,100 402,637

(21,289,153) (10,027,344)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents (8,581,107) 8,365,389

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 47,733,177 39,367,788

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 39,152,070 $ 47,733,177

Supplementary cash flow information

Interest paid $ 1,011,314 $ 1,111,118

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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District of Lake Country
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the statements. They explain the significant
accounting and reporting policies and principles underlying these statements. They also provide relevant
supplementary information and explanations which cannot be conveniently expressed in the financial statements.

1. Nature of entity

The District of Lake Country (“the District”) was incorporated under the laws of British Columbia in 1995 and
is engaged in the operation of a municipality.

2. Significant accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting
Standards.

The following is a summary of the District’s significant accounting policies:

Basis of presentation
The District’s resources and operations are segregated into General, Water, Sewer and Statutory Reserve
Funds for accounting and financial reporting purposes. Each of these funds is further segregated into
operating and capital funds, where applicable. The financial statements include all of the accounts of these
funds.

Accrual accounting
The financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis of accounting
records revenue as it is earned and measured.

Financial Instruments
Cash and equity instruments quoted in an active market are measured at fair value (hierarchy level one -
quoted market prices).  All other financial instruments, are measured at cost or amortized cost.  The carrying
amount of each of these financial instruments is presented on the statement of financial position. 

Unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial instruments are recognized in the
statement of remeasurement gains and losses.  Upon settlement, the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified
from the statement of remeasurement gains and losses and recognized in the statement of operations.
Interest and dividends attributable to financial instruments are reported in the statement of operations.

When investment income and realized and unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of
financial instruments are externally restricted, the investment income and fair value changes are recognized
as revenue in the period in which the resources are used for the purpose specified.

For financial instruments measured using amortized cost, the effective interest rate method is used to
determine interest revenue or expense. 

For portfolio measurements measured at cost, the cost method records the initial investment at cost and

5



District of Lake Country
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)
earnings from such investments are recognized only to the extent received or receivable. When an
investment is written down to recognize an impairment loss, the new carrying value is deemed to be the new
cost basis for subsequent accounting purposes. 

All financial assets are tested annually for impairment. When financial assets are impaired, impairment losses
are recorded in the statement of operations. 

Transaction costs are added to the carrying value for financial instruments measured using cost or amortized
cost.  Transaction costs are expensed for financial instruments measured at fair value.

Tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes all amounts that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. The cost, less residual value, of the
tangible capital assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Tangible capital assets Estimated useful life

Land improvements 10 - 50 years

Buildings 50 years

Furniture and equipment 5 - 20 years

Vehicles and machinery 8 - 20 years

IT Infrastructure 5 years

Road surface 20 years

Road base 80 - 99 years

Other road structures 20 - 50 years

Water, sewer, and other structures 25 - 80 years

One-half of the annual amortization is charged in the year of acquisition and in the year of disposal. 

Work in Progress is valued at cost and represents capital projects under construction but not yet ready for
use. Amortization commences once the individual projects are capitalized.

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the date of receipt and
also are recorded as revenue.

The District has numerous works of art located throughout the District which are not reflected in these
financial statements due to the subjectivity as to their value.
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District of Lake Country
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Supplies on hand
Supplies are charged to operations when purchased.

Capitalization of interest
The District capitalizes interest on temporary borrowing until the completion of the project that is to be
financed by debenture debt at the current rate of the District’s short-term borrowing.

Debenture debt
Outstanding debenture debt is reported net of sinking fund balances.

Debt charges
Interest on debt is charged to current operations. Interest charges are accrued for the period from the date
of the latest interest payment to the end of the year.

Liability for contaminated sites
Contaminated sites are a result of contamination being introduced into air, soil, water or sediment of a
chemical, organic or radioactive material or live organism that exceeds an environmental standard. The
liability is recorded net of any expected recoveries. A liability for remediation of contaminated sites is
recognized when all of the following criteria are met:

• an environmental standard exists;
• contamination exceeds the environmental standard;
• the District is directly responsible and accepts responsibility;
• it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and
• a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made.

The liability includes all costs directly attributable to remediation activities including post remediation
operations, maintenance and monitoring.

7



District of Lake Country
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Asset retirement obligation
An asset retirement obligation is a legal obligation associated with the retirement of a tangible capital asset
that the District will be required to settle. The District recognizes asset retirement obligations when there is a
legal obligation to incur retirements costs in relation to a tangible capital asset, the past transaction or event
giving rise to the liability has occurred, it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up, and a
reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

Asset retirement obligations are initially measured at the best estimate of the amount required to retire a
tangible capital asset at the financial statement date. The estimate of a liability includes costs directly
attributable to asset retirement activities.

Asset retirement obligations are recorded as liabilities with a corresponding increase to the carrying amount
of the related tangible capital asset. Subsequently, the asset retirement costs are allocated to expenses over

�the useful life of the tangible capital asset. The obliga�on is adjusted to reflect period-to period changes in
the liability resulting from the passage of time and for revisions to either the timing or the amount of the
original estimate of the undiscounted cash flows or the discount rate.

Municipal Finance Authority debt reserve deposits
The District issues its debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority. As a condition of these
borrowings, a portion of the debenture proceeds is withheld by the Municipal Finance Authority as a debt
reserve fund. The District also executes demand notes in connection with each debenture whereby the
District may be required to loan certain amounts to the Municipal Finance Authority. These demand notes
are contingent in nature, and are detailed as follows:

Demand
Notes

Cash
Deposits

Total
2024

Total
2023

General Fund $ 287,841 $ 133,157 $ 420,998 $ 416,517

Water Fund 34,809 14,726 49,535 99,528

Sewer Fund 276,538 109,635 386,173 629,052

$ 599,188 $ 257,518 $ 856,706 $ 1,145,097

Reserve funds
Non-statutory reserves represent an appropriation of surplus for specific purposes. Reserves for future
capital expenditures represent funds to finance incomplete capital projects. Statutory reserves are restricted
by the Community Charter and the associated municipal bylaws that established the reserves.
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District of Lake Country
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition
Taxes are recognized as revenue in the year they are levied. Through the BC Assessment appeal process
property assessment values may be adjusted through a supplementary roll. Decreases or increases of
taxation as a result of these re-assessments are recognized at the time they are awarded.

Revenues from transactions with performance obligations are recognized when (at a point in time) or as
(over a period of time) the District satisfies the performance obligations, which occurs when control of the
benefits associated with the promised goods or services has passed to the payor. 

The District recognizes revenue from users of the water, sewer, solid waste disposal, and rentals of District
property services on a straight-line basis over the period of time that the relevant performance obligations
are satisfied by the District. 

The District recognizes revenue from administrative services, building permits, development permits, sales of
goods and other licenses and permits at the point in time that the District has performed the related
performance obligations and control of the related benefits has passed to the payors. 

Revenue from transactions without performance obligation is recognized at realizable value when the District
has the authority to claim or retain an inflow of economic resources received or receivable and there is a past
transaction or event that gives rise to the economic resources.

The District recognizes revenue from tax penalties and interest, municipal ticket fines, and other revenue
without associated performance obligations at the realizable value at the point in time when the District is
authorized to collect these revenues.

Investment income is recorded on the accrual basis and recognized when earned. 

Government transfers are recognized as revenue in the period that the transfer is authorized, eligibility
criteria, if any, have been met by the District, and a reasonable estimate of the amount to be received can be
made.

Developer contributions are recognized as revenue during the period in which the related costs are incurred
or when infrastructure is turned over to the District.

Expenses
Expenses are recorded in the period in which the goods or services are acquired and a liability is incurred.

Use of estimates
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant areas requiring the use of management
estimates relate to the determination of employee benefit plans, allowance for doubtful accounts receivable,
provision for contingencies and tangible capital assets estimated useful life and related amortization. Actual
results could differ from management’s best estimates as additional information becomes available.
Adjustments, if any, will be reflected in the financial statements in the period that the change in estimate is
made, as well as in the period of settlement if the amount is different.

9



District of Lake Country
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

3. Budget figures

The budget figures are from the District's Annual Five-Year Financial Plan Bylaw adopted by Mayor and
Council before May 15th of year year. Subsequent amendments have been made by Council to reflect
changes in the budget as required by legislation. The budget was not prepared on a basis consistent with that
used to report actual results (Public Sector Accounting Standards).  The budget was prepared on a modified
accrual basis while Public Sector Accounting Standards require a full accrual basis.  The budget figures
anticipated using surpluses accumulated in previous years to reduce current year expenditures in excess of
current year revenues to $11,162,395.  In addition, the budget expensed all tangible capital asset
expenditures.  As a result, the budget figures presented in the statement of operations and the statement of
changes in net financial assets (net debt) represent the budget adopted by Mayor and Council with
adjustments as follows: 

2024

Add:

Acquisition of tangible capital assets $ 38,284,384

Long-term debt principal payments and actuarial adjustments 1,370,534

Less:

Transfers from surpluses and reserves (23,625,054)

Transfer from equity in tangible capital assets for amortization (4,867,469)

Financial plan (Budget) surplus per statement of operations $ 11,162,395

4. Financial Instruments
The District is potentially exposed to credit risk, market and interest rate risk, and liquidity risk from the
District's financial instruments. Qualitative and quantitative analysis of the significant risks from the District's
financial instruments is provided below by type of risk. 

There have not been any changes from the prior year in the District’s exposure to above risks or the policies,
procedures and methods it uses to manage and measure the risks. 

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by
failing to discharge an obligation.  The District is exposed to credit risk through its cash, accounts receivable,
and short-term investments. 

The District manages its credit risk by manages it credit risk by:  

 Ensuring receivables are primarily government organizations. 

 Having legislated collateral over taxes receivable from highly diversified nature of residents of the

District. 

 Holding cash and guaranteed investment certificates at federally regulated chartered banks with cash

accounts insured.

10



District of Lake Country
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

Financial Instruments (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

 The District measures its exposure to credit risk based on: 

 By how long amounts have been outstanding from government organizations regarding capital projects

and other. 

 Based on historical experience regarding collections 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the financial statement date is the carrying value of its cash and cash
equivalents and accounts receivable as outlined in Notes 5 and 6. Accounts receivable arise primarily as a
result of utilities, and grants receivable. Based on this knowledge, credit risk of cash and accounts receivable
are assessed as low. 

The District manages exposure to credit risk for cash equivalents by ensuring adequate diversification and by
maintaining its investments which meets the investment requirements of Section 183 of the Community
Charter of the Province of BC. As a result, the District has reduced exposure to market or value risk.  The
maximum exposure to credit risk on short-term investments is outlined in Note 5. 

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the District will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities.  The District is exposed to liquidity risk through its accounts payable, long-term debt, and
investments. 

The District manages this risk by staggering maturity dates of investments based on cash flow needs. Also to
help manage the risk, the District has in place a planning, budgeting and forecasting process to help
determine the funds required to support the normal operating requirements. The District’s five-year financial
plan is approved by the Mayor and Council, which includes operational activities and capital investments. The
District measures its exposure to liquidity risk based on cash flow needs versus available cash. 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.  The Municipality is exposed to interest rate risk through its
long-term debt and the value of portfolio investments.   

The Municipality manages interest rate risk on its long-term debt by holding all debt through MFA at a fixed
rate, with refinancing typically being completed at the ten or fifteen year mark. Therefore, fluctuations in
market interest rates would not impact future cash flows and operations relating to long-term debt. See Note
9 for interest rates and maturity dates for long term debt.  

Investments that are subject to interest rate risk are GICs, Chartered Bank Accruals and Debentures (see Note
5). The risk is caused by changes in interest rates. As interest rates rise, the fair value of the investments
decrease and, as interest rates fall, the fair value of these investments increase.
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District of Lake Country
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

5. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term investments with maturities of 90 days or less from
the date of acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are recorded at cost and are comprised of the following:

2024 2023

Cash $ 6,495,639 $ 11,054,796

Term Deposits 27,694,569 30,678,016

Chartered Bank Accrual Notes and Debentures 4,961,862 6,000,365

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 39,152,070 $ 47,733,177

Included in 2024 cash and cash equivalents is $2,392,662 (2023 - $2,561,873) relating to performance
deposits, the use of which is subject to certain restrictions.

Details of term deposits and debentures are as follows:

2024 2023

Maturing within 6 months, 4.15% - 4.82% $ 9,500,000 $ 13,991,372

Maturing 6 months to 1 year, 1.13% - 5.10% 3,422,351 4,954,934

Maturing 1 year to 5 years, 1.76% - 5.15% 14,508,274 16,396,193

Maturing beyond 5 years, 2.25% - 4.56% 5,225,806 1,335,882

Total term deposits and debentures $ 32,656,431 $ 36,678,381

Operating line of credit
The District has an operating line of credit with the Toronto Dominion Commercial Bank for an authorized
amount of $1,500,000, bearing interest at bank prime rate. At December 31 the balance outstanding on the
operating line of credit was $nil (2023 - $nil).
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District of Lake Country
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

6. Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded net of allowance and is comprised of the following:

2024 2023

Property tax receivables $ 1,159,160 $ 999,728

Trade receivables 3,227,993 2,047,970

Due from other governments 1,659,694 1,106,979

Water utility fees 2,081,312 1,902,824

$ 8,128,159 $ 6,057,501

7. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are comprised of the following:

2024 2023

Accounts payable $ 2,928,683 $ 5,723,030

Due to other governments 2,833,098 1,826,401

Trade contract holdbacks 3,000 299,890

Wages and benefits 819,818 519,415

$ 6,584,599 $ 8,368,736

8. Deferred revenue

The District records deferred revenue for funds received in advance on services not yet rendered and is
recognized as revenue during the period in which the services are provided. Because these funds are
restricted in nature, they are shown as a liability.

2023

Deferred
revenue
received

Deferred
revenue

recognized 2024

Prepaid taxes $ 1,816,873 $ 1,794,339 $ (1,816,875) $ 1,794,337

Prepaid water utility fees 78,185 28,358 (78,185) 28,358

Prepaid leisure service fees 37,834 43,130 (37,834) 43,130

Deferred parcel tax 26,166 - - 26,166

Other 986,569 414,678 (74,994) 1,326,253

$ 2,945,627 $ 2,280,505 $ (2,007,888) $ 3,218,244

13



District of Lake Country
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

9. Restricted revenue

Development cost charges and parkland acquisition funds
Pursuant to the provisions of the Local Government Act, development cost charges (“DCC’s”) and parkland
acquisition funds are held in statutory reserve funds for the purposes for which the charges have been
imposed. When the related costs are incurred, the DCC’s and parkland acquisition funds are recognized as
revenue. Because these funds are restricted in nature, they are shown as a liability.

Development
cost charge
restricted
revenue

2024

Parkland
acquisition
restricted
revenue

2024
Total
2024

Total
2023

Financial assets:

Cash $ 5,546,146 $ 82,050 $ 5,628,196 $ 3,293,155

5,546,146 82,050 5,628,196 3,293,155

Balance, beginning of year 3,211,105 82,050 3,293,155 3,621,728

Contributions from developers 4,079,661 - 4,079,661 2,562,218

Permit adjustments (155,680) - (155,680) -

Interest on investments 178,444 - 178,444 108,599

Capital financing (1,767,384) - (1,767,384) (2,999,390)

Balance, end of year $ 5,546,146 $ 82,050 $ 5,628,196 $ 3,293,155

In accordance with Section 562 of the Local Government Act, no DCC's were waived or reduced for eligible
development as defined under Section 563 of the Act. DCC reserve balances can be itemized as follows:

2024 2023

Roads DCC $ 391,690 $ 411,792

Drainage DCC 830,958 911,962

Park DCC 3,187,295 1,193,970

Water DCC 2,495,516 1,950,192

Sewer DCC (1,359,313) (1,256,811)

Parkland acquisition 82,050 82,050

$ 5,628,196 $ 3,293,155
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District of Lake Country
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

10. Long-term debt

Interest rate
Year of

maturity

Balance,
beginning of

year Additions
Principal
payment

Actuarial
adjustment

Balance, end
of year

General Fund

MFA Issue 104 5.150% 2028 $ 549,340 $ - $ 56,317 $ 45,105 $ 447,918

MFA Issue 105 4.900% 2029 192,863 - 16,791 12,285 163,787

MFA Issue 133 2.750% 2035 1,777,997 - 92,469 29,295 1,656,233

MFA Issue 157 3.360% 2042 5,884,263 - 239,737 5,993 5,638,533

8,404,463 - 405,314 92,678 7,906,471

Water Fund

MFA Issue 105 4.900% 2024 80,026 - 46,213 33,813 -

MFA Issue 114 3.650% 2026 91,003 - 19,118 - 71,885

MFA Issue 114 3.650% 2026 59,473 - 29,254 - 30,219

MFA Issue 127 3.300% 2029 209,963 - 22,240 9,414 178,309

440,465 - 116,825 43,227 280,413

Sewer Fund

MFA Issue 70 5.745% 2024 334,520 - 145,899 188,621 -

MFA Issue 126 3.850% 2033 638,591 - 39,335 15,099 584,157

MFA Issue 158 4.090% 2042 8,527,408 - 312,592 10,941 8,203,875

9,500,519 - 497,826 214,661 8,788,032

Total long-term debt $ 18,345,447 $ - $ 1,019,965 $ 350,566 $ 16,974,916

The principal repayments on long-term debt required in each of the five years and thereafter are as follows:

2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter Total

General Fund $ 405,314 $ 405,314 $ 405,314 $ 405,314 $ 348,997 $ 3,671,397 $ 5,641,650

Water Fund 120,255 75,873 23,906 23,906 23,906 - 267,846

Sewer Fund 351,927 351,927 351,927 351,927 351,927 4,221,035 5,980,670

Actuarial Adjustment - - - - - - 5,084,750

$ 877,496 $ 833,114 $ 781,147 $ 781,147 $ 724,830 $ 7,892,432 $ 16,974,916
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District of Lake Country
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

11. Asset Retirement Obligations

The District owns and operates several assets that are known to have asbestos and lead paint, which
represent a health hazard upon demolition or renovation of the assets. There is a legal obligation to remove
and dispose of the hazardous materials. The District has recognized an obligation relating to the removal of
the hazardous materials in these assets. 

Estimated costs totaling $2,068,372 (2023 - $2,001,140) have been discounted using a present value
calculation with a discount rate of 4.55% (2023 - 4.98%) . The timing of these expenditures is estimated to
occur between 2024 and 2067 with the regular replacement, renovation, or disposal of assets. No recoveries
are expected at this time.

2024 2023

Opening asset retirement obligation $ 558,799 $ -

Recognition of expected discounted cash flows 111,515 532,291

Increase attributable to accretion 68,692 26,508

Closing asset retirement obligation $ 739,006 $ 558,799

12. Contingent liabilities and commitments

Regional District of Central Okanagan
Regional District debt is, under the provisions of the Local Government Act, a direct, joint and several liability
of the District and each electoral area and member municipality within the Regional District, including the
District of Lake Country.  The loan agreements with the Regional District of Central Okanagan and the
Municipal Finance Authority provide that if at any time the scheduled payments provided for in the
agreements are not sufficient to meet the Authority’s obligation with respect to such borrowing, the resulting
deficiency becomes a liability of the member municipalities.

Legal actions
The District is currently engaged in certain legal actions, the outcome of which is not determinable at this
time. Accordingly, no provision has been made in the accounts for these actions. The amount of loss, if any,
arising from these actions will be recorded in the accounts in the period in which the loss becomes estimable
and likely.

Pension liability
The District and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusted pension plan). The
board of trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for administering the plan,
including investment of the assets and administration of benefits. The plan is a multi-employer defined
benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As at December 31, 2023 the plan has
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District of Lake Country
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

12. Contingent liabilities and commitments (continued)

Pension liability (continued)
about 256,000 active members and approximately 129,000 retired members. Active members include
approximately 45,000 contributors from local governments.

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and
adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member
contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary’s calculated contribution rate is based on the entry-age
normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer contributions sufficient to
provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate maybe adjusted for the amortization of any
unfunded actuarial liability.

The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2021 indicated a $3,761 million
funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis. 

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2024.

The District paid $839,947 (2023 - $770,089) for employer contributions, while employees contributed
$760,712 (2023 - $697,634) to the plan in fiscal 2024.

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions
made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the plan records
accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for
allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual employers participating in the plan.

Letter of Credit
The District holds an irrevocable letter of credit in the amount of $97,540. The letter of credit is being held as
a deposit on a capital project being administered by the Department of Fisheries and Oceans.

Commitments
The District has entered into various agreements and contracts for services with periods ranging from one to
twenty years.
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District of Lake Country
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

13. Taxation

In 2024 the District collected $14,876,171 (2023 - $14,020,974) on behalf of other taxing jurisdictions and
transferred this amount to those other authorities. The collections and transfers are itemized as follows:

2024 2023

Collections for and transfers to other governments

Taxes collected

Property taxes $ 37,228,531 $ 34,256,180

Special assessments 2,355,827 2,334,144

1% utility tax 261,621 261,311

Penalties and interest on taxes 390,005 320,873

Grant in lieu of taxes 52,127 59,906

40,288,111 37,232,414

Less transfer to other governments

Province of BC (school taxes) 10,300,087 9,673,147

BC Assessment Authority 278,691 265,415

Municipal Finance Authority 1,553 1,524

Regional Hospital District 1,481,592 1,453,550

Okanagan Regional Library 825,880 770,753

Regional District of Central Okanagan 1,988,368 1,856,585

14,876,171 14,020,974

Net taxes available for municipal purposes $ 25,411,940 $ 23,211,440
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District of Lake Country
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

14. Government transfers

In 2024 the District received and recorded as revenue the following transfers:

2024 2023

Federal Conditional Transfers

Federal Gas Tax Strategic Priorities Fund $ - $ 41,046

Provincial Unconditional Transfers

Traffic Fine Revenue Sharing Grant 96,000 80,000

Small Community Grant 228,900 233,000

Local Government Climate Action Program 398,730 136,082

Growing Communities Fund - 6,778,000

BC Housing Needs Assessment Grant - 23,543

Local Government Development Approvals 57,500 -

Local Government Housing Initiatives 231,057 -

1,012,187 7,250,625

Provincial Conditional Transfers

COVID-19 Resilience Infrastructure Grant - 162,025

Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program 1,979 98,543

Community Emergency Preparedness 2,460,997 -

Other Conditional Transfers 82,060 257,980

2,545,036 518,548

Regional and Other External Conditional Transfers

Gas Tax Community Works Fund 783,621 653,972

Student Grants 2,385 6,795

Okanagan Basin Water Board 118,175 137,690

UBCM FireSmart Grant 243,648 73,803

LCFD Legacy Leadership Fund 15,390 -

1,163,219 872,260

Total government transfers $ 4,720,442 $ 8,682,479
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District of Lake Country
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

15. Letters of credit

As of December 31, the District is holding letters of credit in the amount of $7,635,869 (2023 - $5,643,695),
which are received as security related to performance deposits. 

16. Segmented information

The District of Lake Country is a diversified municipal government that provides a wide range of services to its
citizens. For management reporting purposes the District’s operations and activities are organized and
reported by funds and departments. The General Fund reports on property tax supported operations, which
include services provided by the District to citizens such as general government, protective, transportation,
environmental, planning and development and community and customer services. The utility operations are
comprised of the water and sewer systems, each accounting for its own operations and programs within their
own funds. Operating results reported by the following segments is included in Schedule 3.

General Government services
General Government operations are primarily funded by property taxation and business tax revenues. The
expenses within the department are for legislative, general administration, human resources and finance
functions within the municipality. The general revenue reported under the department includes revenues
associated with taxation, business licence revenues and payments in-lieu of taxes. These revenues have not
been apportioned to other departments supported by the General Fund.

Protective services
Protective services are comprised of police services provided by the Royal Canadian Mounted Police and fire
services. The mandate of the police is to ensure the safety of the lives and property of citizens, preserve
peace and good order, prevent crimes from occurring, detect offenders, and enforce the law. The fire
department is responsible for effective fire protection and public safety services to the District. This includes
fire prevention, fire safety inspections, fire control and/or suppression. Bylaw enforcement is also reported
under this department.

Transportation services
Transportation services are responsible for the delivery of municipal public works services related to the
planning, development and maintenance of roadway and drainage systems and street lighting.

Environmental services
Environmental services are comprised of transit, garbage and recycling services, as well as the Lake Country
hydroelectric generating station.

Planning and Development 
Planning and Development services monitor compliance with Council policies governing subdivision, land use
and building inspection. This department also provides economic development services within the
municipality.

Parks and Recreation
Parks and Recreation services provide services related to recreation, leisure and culture. The facilities
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District of Lake Country
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2024

16. Segmented information (continued)

Parks and Recreation (continued)
managed within this department include parks, arena, seniors centre, community theatre and the community
complex. 

Water systems
The Water department provides safe drinking water to citizens of Lake Country. Revenue and expenses
represent the amounts that are directly attributable to the function of the water department. Water is
accounted for in its own fund.

Sewer system
The Sewer department manages the wastewater treatment plants and sewer collection system. Sewer is
accounted for in its own fund.

17. Expenses by object

Total expenses by object are itemized in Schedule 3 – Segment Disclosure.

18. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation format adopted for the
current year.
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District of Lake Country
Schedule 1 - Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets

For the Year Ended December 31 Land
Land

Improvements Buildings
Furniture &
Equipment

Vehicle &
Machinery

IT
Infrastructure

COST

Opening Balance $ 39,662,577 $ 11,058,266 $ 44,748,188 $ 3,922,305 $ 8,178,985 $ 2,568,207

Add:  additions 5,187,798 672,632 5,070,130 168,423 1,425,424 327,802

Add:  contributed capital - - - - - -

Add: ARO recognition (Note 11) - - 111,516 - - -

Less:  disposals/transfers (4,186) - - (34,729) (158,822) (347,978)

Closing balance 44,846,189 11,730,898 49,929,834 4,055,999 9,445,587 2,548,031

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION

Opening Balance - 3,001,144 10,179,545 1,981,158 4,307,263 910,598

Add: amortization - 437,402 1,023,627 209,837 522,932 313,544

Less:  accumulated amortization on
disposals - - - (34,729) (148,822) (347,978)

Closing balance - 3,438,546 11,203,172 2,156,266 4,681,373 876,164

Net book value, December 31, 2024 44,846,189 8,292,352 38,726,662 1,899,733 4,764,214 1,671,867

Net book value, December 31, 2023 $ 39,662,577 $ 8,057,122 $ 34,568,643 $ 1,941,147 $ 3,871,722 $ 1,657,609
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District of Lake Country
Schedule 1 - Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets

Engineering Structures

For the Year Ended December 31 Water Sewer Roads
Environmental

& Other
Work-in-
Progress

2024
Total

2023
Total

COST

Opening Balance $ 59,375,914 $ 35,511,008 $ 74,132,398 $ 4,118,791 $ 2,608,746 $285,885,385 $ 273,951,929

Add:  additions 3,941,182 719,341 3,485,967 - 3,846,920 24,845,619 31,809,293

Add:  contributed capital 41,677 3,872 45,530 - - 91,079 1,030,095

Add: ARO recognition (Note 11) - - - - - 111,516 532,291

Less:  disposals/transfers - - - - (3,409,364) (3,955,079) (21,438,223)

Closing balance 63,358,773 36,234,221 77,663,895 4,118,791 3,046,302 306,978,520 285,885,385

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION

Opening Balance 14,106,213 6,188,913 21,789,163 1,493,066 - 63,957,063 58,011,575

Add: amortization 1,238,369 666,281 1,845,215 102,965 - 6,360,172 5,991,423

Less:  accumulated amortization on
disposals - - - - - (531,529) (45,935)

Closing balance 15,344,582 6,855,194 23,634,378 1,596,031 - 69,785,706 63,957,063

Net book value, December 31, 2024 48,014,191 29,379,027 54,029,517 2,522,760 3,046,302 237,192,814

Net book value, December 31, 2023 $ 45,269,701 $ 29,322,095 $ 52,343,235 $ 2,625,725 $ 2,608,746 $ 221,928,322
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District of Lake Country
Schedule 2 - Consolidated Schedule of Accumulated Surplus

For the year ended December 31

Balances,
Beginning

of Year Withdrawals Contributions
Transfer to

Capital

Interest &
Actuarial

Adjustments
Balances, End of

Year

Surplus and Non-Statutory Reserves

General fund surplus $ 3,214,133 $ (55,288) $ - $ (504,926) $ 561 $ 2,654,480

Water fund surplus 1,266,977 - - - 52,708 1,319,685

Sewer fund surplus 485,804 - - - 20,210 506,014

General capital reserve 3,375,827 - 1,041,071 (1,192,206) 137,292 3,361,984

Water capital reserve 4,079,941 - 1,340,650 (1,187,135) 172,919 4,406,375

Sewer capital reserve 683,025 - 624,585 (225,492) 36,715 1,118,833

Climate action reserve 2,581,311 - 480,989 (871,052) 93,741 2,284,989

Community works gas tax reserve 1,034,505 - 783,621 (1,157,360) 35,262 696,028

Equipment acquisition and replacement reserve 624,575 - 321,535 (198,357) 28,545 776,298

Facilities reserve 1,468,719 - 991,787 (396,100) 72,284 2,136,690

Financial stabilization reserve 657,186 (227,000) 186,297 (333,866) 15,778 298,395

Fire facilities and equipment reserve 681,876 - 582,403 (882,559) 22,123 403,843

Future servicing works reserve 1,412,692 - 4,313 - - 1,417,005

Future capital expenditures reserve 157,766 - - - - 157,766

Information technology reserve 706,841 - 275,000 (214,338) 30,667 798,170

Road maintenance services reserve 102,423 - - - 4,261 106,684

Policing reserve 1,509,208 (654,000) 838,900 (620,000) 53,733 1,127,841

Solid waste reserve 964,405 - - (23,025) 39,641 981,021

Transportation infrastructure reserve 3,426,967 - 1,655,560 (2,647,108) 121,938 2,557,357

Transit Reserve 187,917 (100,000) - (4,633) 5,641 88,925

Septic facilities reserves 493,266 - 504,292 - 31,010 1,028,568

Growing communities fund reserve 6,947,746 (7,182,403) - - 234,657 -

Bulk water capital reserve - - 624,706 - 12,995 637,701

Slope Stability Reserve - - 300,000 - 6,240 306,240

36,063,110 (8,218,691) 10,555,709 (10,458,157) 1,228,921 29,170,892
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District of Lake Country
Schedule 2 - Consolidated Schedule of Accumulated Surplus

For the year ended December 31

Balances,
Beginning

of Year Withdrawals Contributions
Transfer to

Capital

Interest &
Actuarial

Adjustments
Balances, End of

Year

Statutory Reserves

Access to body of water reserve 2,157 - - - 90 2,247

Land sale reserve 591,721 - 136,803 (725,157) 12,378 15,745

Parkland acquisition reserve 204,457 (200,000) - - 4,346 8,803

798,335 (200,000) 136,803 (725,157) 16,814 26,795

Investment in Non Financial Assets

Equity in tangible capital assets 203,024,076 (6,554,565) 22,658,815 - 350,569 219,478,895

Accumulated surplus $ 239,885,521 $ (14,973,256) $ 33,351,327 $ (11,183,314) $ 1,596,304 $ 248,676,582
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District of Lake Country
Schedule 3 - Schedule of Segment Disclosure

General Government Services Protective Services Transportation Services

For the year ended December 31

2024
Budget

2024
Actual

2024
Budget

2024
Actual

2024
Budget

2024
Actual

Revenue

Taxation $ 20,420,135 $ 20,439,939 $ 3,455,558 $ 3,450,028 $ - $ -

Utility revenues - 10,003 - - - -

Services provided to other governments - - - - - -

Sale of services 50,465 74,457 13,000 88,380 287,211 263,349

Permits and licences 196,000 171,581 22,000 36,442 84,500 81,866

Interest on Investments 922,680 2,056,137 - - - -

Government transfers 1,000,054 1,514,425 299,000 357,388 417,112 55,574

Developer contributions 415,354 416,368 - - 721,923 344,421

Other revenue 215,498 321,245 25,000 5,241 65,000 103,474

Total revenue 23,220,186 25,004,155 3,814,558 3,937,479 1,575,746 848,684

Expenses

Salaries, wages and benefits 3,324,007 3,487,399 2,543,232 2,513,661 973,077 950,167

Contract services 1,097,029 1,288,887 5,092,394 4,301,112 3,946,115 3,868,023

Grants to community organizations 72,075 66,742 7,000 11,750 - -

Materials and supplies 170,876 170,534 240,856 332,163 281,478 324,999

Utilities - - 40,531 48,706 118,120 96,451

Amortization 162,878 415,709 475,000 555,819 1,737,323 2,119,264

Accretion - 59,326 - - - -

Interest expense 50,600 73,151 205,766 205,766 - -

Total expenses 4,877,465 5,561,748 8,604,779 7,968,977 7,056,113 7,358,904

Annual surplus (deficit) $ 18,342,721 $ 19,442,407 $ (4,790,221) $ (4,031,498) $ (5,480,367) $ (6,510,220)
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District of Lake Country
Schedule 3 - Schedule of Segment Disclosure

Environmental Services Planning and Development Parks and Recreation

For the year ended December 31
2024

Budget

2024
Actual

2024
Budget

2024
Actual

2024
Budget

2024
Actual

Revenue

Taxation $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -

Utility revenues - - - - - -

Services provided to other governments - - - - 55,000 55,000

Sale of services 1,823,335 1,447,382 81,500 143,995 673,900 1,133,078

Permits and licences - - 1,318,000 1,355,636 - -

Interest on Investments - - - - - -

Government transfers - - 50,000 231,057 1,926 847

Developer contributions - - - - 391,195 202,656

Other revenue - - - - 216,866 298,331

Total revenue 1,823,335 1,447,382 1,449,500 1,730,688 1,338,887 1,689,912

Expenses

Salaries, wages and benefits 872,330 942,419 1,627,772 1,475,316 2,137,862 2,153,589

Contract services 1,045,607 1,138,741 321,076 362,685 1,492,119 1,672,373

Grants to community organizations - - 25,000 25,000 188,100 183,666

Materials and supplies 9,622 2,867 22,643 19,578 516,368 429,930

Utilities 4,776 2,721 - - 410,200 463,520

Amortization 155,692 154,609 - - 613,358 997,705

Accretion - - - - - -

Interest expense 11,250 15,875 - - 144,024 144,024

Total expenses 2,099,277 2,257,232 1,996,491 1,882,579 5,502,031 6,044,807

Annual surplus (deficit) $ (275,942) $ (809,850) $ (546,991) $ (151,891) $ (4,163,144) $ (4,354,895)
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District of Lake Country
Schedule 3 - Schedule of Segment Disclosure

Water Systems Sewer System Totals

For the year ended December 31
2024

Budget

2024
Actual

2024
Budget

2024
Actual

2024
Budget

2024
Actual

2023
Actual

Revenue

Taxation $ 100,904 $ 97,898 $ 1,434,507 $ 1,424,075 $ 25,411,104 $ 25,411,940 $ 23,211,440

Utility revenues 5,194,770 5,989,624 1,006,492 1,007,199 6,201,262 7,006,826 5,924,244

Services provided to other governments - - 804,442 785,015 859,442 840,015 813,571

Sale of services 227,322 59,547 41,000 27,669 3,197,733 3,237,857 4,228,904

Permits and licences - - - - 1,620,500 1,645,525 1,315,749

Interest on Investments 68,728 93,699 225,661 237,108 1,217,069 2,386,944 2,383,888

Government transfers 3,959,013 2,442,976 137,690 118,175 5,864,795 4,720,442 8,682,479

Developer contributions 2,106,517 180,704 673,086 718,628 4,308,075 1,862,777 4,021,652

Other revenue 4,000 3,826 100 181,373 526,464 913,490 1,202,509

Total revenue 11,661,254 8,868,274 4,322,978 4,499,242 49,206,444 48,025,816 51,784,436

Expenses

Salaries, wages and benefits 1,603,899 1,536,328 836,148 690,568 13,918,327 13,749,447 12,625,978

Contract services 985,975 832,835 541,732 590,497 14,522,047 14,055,153 13,052,668

Grants to community organizations - - - - 292,175 287,158 241,325

Materials and supplies 862,389 913,056 240,394 304,003 2,344,626 2,497,130 2,415,852

Utilities 321,980 407,935 219,660 186,358 1,115,267 1,205,691 1,190,868

Amortization 1,096,742 1,270,484 626,475 846,582 4,867,468 6,360,172 5,991,423

Accretion - 9,365 - - - 68,691 26,508

Interest expense 33,316 33,315 539,183 539,183 984,139 1,011,314 1,111,118

Total expenses 4,904,301 5,003,318 3,003,592 3,157,191 38,044,049 39,234,756 36,655,740

Annual surplus (deficit) $ 6,756,953 $ 3,864,956 $ 1,319,386 $ 1,342,051 $ 11,162,395 $ 8,791,060 $ 15,128,696
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District of Lake Country
Schedule 4 - COVID-19 Safe Restart Grant (Unaudited)

COVID-19 Safe Restart Grant received November 2020 $2,947,000

2020 eligible costs incurred       424,752

2021 eligble costs incurred       840,838

2022 eligble costs incurred         817,976

2023 eligible costs incurred       564,498

Balance, December 31, 2023 $    298,936

2024 eligible costs incurred:

Computer and technology costs to improve connectivity and virtual communications $298,936

General government services                 -

Protective services                 -

Total 2024 eligible costs incurred      298,936

Balance, December 31, 2024 $                -
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District of Lake Country
Schedule 5 - Growing Communities Fund Grant (Unaudited)

Growing Communities Grant received March 2023 $6,778,000

2023 investment income         169,746

Balance, December 31, 2023 $6,947,746

2024 eligible costs/ incurred

Property purchase $ (7,030,000)

Protective services        (152,403)

Investment income          234,657

                                               6,947,746

Balance, December 31, 2024 $                -
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District of Lake Country
Schedule 6 - Local Government Housing Initiatives Grant (Unaudited)

  

Local Government Housing Initiatives Grant received January 2024     $231,057

2024 eligible costs/ incurred      $   48,460

Balance, December 31, 2024      $182,597
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Municipal 
Taxes Other Taxes Total Taxes

Church Buildings

BC Association of 7th Day Adventists 3,800 2,652 6,452

Christian and Missionary Alliance 2,711 1,892 4,603

Kelowna Christian Centre Society 3,566 2,489 6,056

Roman Catholic Bishop of Nelson 4,479 3,119 7,598

St. Francis Anglican Church 1,267 885 2,152

The Missionary Church 2,042 1,425 3,467

Winfield Jehovah’s Witness Trustees 7,004 4,889 11,892

Winfield United Church 2,644 1,846 4,490

Camps

BC Lions Society for Children with Disabilities 9,094 5,747 14,841

Camp Hatikvah Foundation 38,686 24,700 63,386

Girl Guides Association Central Okanagan Division 25,073 16,351 41,424

Community Halls

Community Hall Association of OK Centre 4,745 3,316 8,062

Oyama Community Club 4,992 3,486 8,478

Oyama Community Club (Royal Canadian Legion Branch 189) 2,515 1,756 4,271

Winfield Memorial Hall 6,697 4,655 11,352

Not for Profit Service Organizations

Central Okanagan Rebroadcast Society 248 175 423

Lake Country Seniors Housing Society 10,814 6,713 17,527

Lake Country Heritage & Cultural Society 21,853 15,476 37,329

Oceola Fish & Game Club 7,304 5,103 12,407

Ducks Unlimited 870 544 1,414

BC Teen Challenge 4,220 2,626 6,846

Winfield Curling Club/Horseshoe Club/Seniors Society/Food Bank 9,668 6,792 16,460

Elowyn - Little Owl Society for Children & Families 4,197 2,613 6,810

$ 178,492 $ 119,251 $ 297,742

Statistics 

2024 Tax Exemptions Provided by Lake Country Council
Year ended December 31, 2024
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Statistics 

Number of Taxable Properties

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

7,046 6,989 6,959 6,887 6,760

Assessments By Class
Category 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

Residential  6,962,974,767 6,907,563,334  6,183,356,579 4,691,560,590 4,343,167,604

Utilities  5,539,501 5,122,701  4,723,001 4,337,901 4,255,098

Light Industry  31,859,600 38,209,000  34,381,100 24,512,800 22,814,000

Business  287,212,924 244,736,124  212,835,272 171,930,358 170,587,857

Recreational  26,415,800 16,337,700  13,294,100 12,794,400 12,735,100

Farm 8,266,683 8,439,463 8,547,237 8,498,313 8,138,861

TOTAL 7,322,269,275 7,220,408,322 6,457,138,289 4,913,634,362 4,561,698,520

Value of Average Single Family Dwelling

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

1,086,000 1,085,000 992,000 759,171 710,703

Municipal Mill Rate By Class (Including Fire)

Category 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

Residential 2.8227 2.5823 2.4075 2.46 2.5

Utilities 45.3591 45.1114 44.749 38.0288 37.95

Light Industry 13.6059 12.9633 13.0415 13.2988 12.6809

Business 6.8030 6.5311 6.5442 6.6784 5.9584

Recreational 3.9118 5.8179 5.7335 5.7507 5.46

Farm 0.6744 0.6480 0.6344 0.55 0.55

Revenues By Class (including Fire)

Category 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

Residential 19,645,866 17,825,537 14,877,128 13,660,653 10,857,919 

Utilities 249,018 229,054 209,442 193,436 161,481 

Light Industry 432,799 494,642 447,828 385,599 289,302 
Business 1,953,910 1,598,396 1,392,836 1,359,987 1,016,431 

Recreational 103,333 95,051 75,227 87,147 69,534 

Farm 5,513 5,414 5,368 5,479 4,629 

TOTAL 22,390,438 20,248,094 17,008,829 15,692,301 12,399,296 

% of Overall Tax Revenue by Class

Category 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

Residential 88.74% 88.04% 87.46% 87.05% 87.57%

Utilities 1.11% 1.13% 1.12% 1.24% 1.3%

Light Industry 1.93% 2.44% 2.63% 2.46% 2.33%

Business 8.73% 7.89% 8.18% 8.66% 8.2%

Recreational 0.46% 0.47% 0.45% 0.55% 0.56%

Farm 0.02% 0.03% 0.03% 0.04% 0.04%
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Statistics 

Top 2024 Corporate Taxpayers Sector Property

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
Total Property Tax Collections 

Total Taxes Collected 40,288,111 37,232,414 29,565,734 27,170,350 25,047,039

Transfer to  
Other Governments 14,876,171 14,020,974 13,042,798 11,978,991 10,727,994

Tax Per Capita
1,452 1,339 1,075 992 946

Debt Per Capita
970 1,058 1,234 351 418

Reserves Per Capita
1,669 2,126 1,976 1,901 2,360

Consolidated Revenue (see notes)
48,025,816 51,784,436 36,912,102 41,378,386 42,934,429

Consolidated Expenses (see notes)
39,234,756 36,655,740 31,041,642 28,992,115 26,231,213

Annual Surplus
8,791,060 15,128,696 5,870,460 12,386,271 16,703,216
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Turtle Bay Crossing Development Ltd 
Utility Gas Utility

0713065 BC Ltd Retail 

Turtle Bay Crossing

Terasen Gas Inc.
Retail

Coopers Village

Oyama RE Holdings Inc Industrial Gravel Pit
O'Rourke Family Vineyards Hospitality Winery

Markui Contracting Ltd Retail Winfield Shopping Centre

Armstrong Land Corp Industrial Storage Facility

Wood Lake Acquisition Inc Hospitality/Recreation Wood Lake Resort & Marina

BC Tree Fruits Agricultural Grower Coop

01432863 BC LTD Residential Multi-Family Development



Statistics 

Revenues By Source

Category 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

Taxation 25,411,940 23,211,440 19,940,042 18,600,618 17,520,565

Utility Revenues 7,006,826 5,924,244 5,664,959 5,359,032 5,085,933

Services by Other Governments 840,015 813,571 328,370 469,072 809,323

Sale of Services 3,237,857 4,228,904 3,072,712 3,203,456 2,734,712

Permits and Licenses 1,645,525 1,315,749 1,292,926 1,329,359 2,117,655

Interest on Investments 2,386,944 2,383,888 1,126,020 797,372 1,464,457

Government Transfers 4,720,442 8,682,479 1,795,768 4,390,096 7,020,182

Developer Contributions 1,862,777 4,021,652 2,954,756 6,792,040 3,927,306

Other Revenue 913,490 1,202,509 736,549 437,341 1,548,233

TOTAL 48,025,816 51,784,436 36,912,102 41,378,386 42,228,366

Expenses By Function

Category 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

General Government Services 5,488,597 4,826,944 4,390,421 4,314,531 3,723,317

Protective Services 7,763,211 7,708,494 5,263,175 4,436,403 3,964,540

Transportation Services 7,358,904 6,708,689 5,761,547 5,339,919 5,757,721

Environmental Services 2,241,357 1,921,618 1,645,406 1,598,836 1,545,811

Community Services 1,882,578 1,722,257 1,596,355 2,344,731 1,214,213

Parks and Recreation 5,900,784 5,700,551 5,044,839 4,244,326 3,747,202

Water Systems 4,970,003 4,546,650 4,261,642 3,779,554 3,675,273

Sewer System 2,618,008 2,409,419 2,296,878 2,364,663 1,960,261

Interest Expense 1,011,314 1,111,118 781,376 569,149 642,875

TOTAL 39,234,756 36,655,740 31,041,642 28,992,115 26,231,213
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Statistics 

Annual Surplus

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

8,791,060 15,128,696 5,870,460 12,386,271 16,703,216

Expenses By Object

Category 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

Salaries, Wages and Benefits 13,749,447 12,625,978  10,804,973 10,772,345 9,424,777

Contract Services 14,055,153 13,052,668  10,464,517 8,688,604 8,784,536

Grants to Community Organizations 287,158 241,325  259,483 252,002 215,075

Materials and Supplies 2,497,130 2,415,852  2,281,732 2,144,812 1,796,198

Utilities 1,205,691 1,190,868  1,034,747 983,073 885,863

Loss on Disposal of Asset – – 25,214 495 62,455

Interest Expense 1,011,314 1,111,118 781,376 569,149 642,875

Amortization 6,360,172 5,991,423 5,389,599 4,659,568 4,419,434

Accretion 68,691 26,508 - 922,068 -

TOTAL 39,234,756 36,655,740 31,041,640 28,992,115 26,231,213

Acquisition of Tangible Assets

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

Acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets 21,436,253 10,429,981 15,973,412 22,954,802 16,429,655

Developer Contribution of Tangible 
Capital Assets 91,080 1,030,095 1,076,748 747,175 318,040

TOTAL 21,527,333 11,460,076 17,050,160 23,701,977 16,747,695
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Statistics 

Debt Capacity Last Five Years 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

Total Revenue for Purposes of Limit 41,284,014 38,697,821 32,363,292 30,289,950 30,307,898

Liability Servicing Limit 10,321,004 9,674,455  8,090,823 7,572,488 7,576,975

Actual Debt Servicing Cost 2,031,280 2,125,975  1,283,622 1,769,934 1,270,930

Additional Debt Servicing Cost – – 854,768 624,519 573,080

Liability Servicing Capacity Available 8,289,724 7,548,480 5,952,433 5,802,554 6,394,012 

Borrowing Limit (20 years @ 6%) 92,108,044 83,385,956 66,138,144 64,472,822 71,044,578 

Long-Term Debt Supported 
by Property Taxes 7,906,471 8,404,463 8,887,327 3,041,021 3,308,167 

Long-Term Debt Supported by Utilities 9,068,445 9,940,984 10,778,803 2,503,562 3,235,749 

Total Long-Term Debt 16,974,916 18,345,447 19,666,130 5,544,583 6,543,916 

Accumulated Surplus/(Deficit) 248,676,582 239,885,522 224,756,826 218,886,366 205,794,032

Net Assets (Debt) 11,377,672 17,411,953 8,716,578 14,519,118 20,447,233

Hydroelectric 
Generating 2024 2023

Total Revenue 209,252 269,000

Total Expenses 114,810 90,000

Net Revenue 94,442 179,000
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Statistics 

Largest Industries of Employment
(Labour force by industries expressed as a percentage 
of the total labour force)

Construction 15%
Health care and social assistance 12%
Retail trade 9%
Professional, scientific and technical services 7%
Manufacturing 6%

District of Lake Country Full-Time Employees
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

102 99 95 85

*Data source: Statistics Canada, Census 2021

Population

Population 
Centre

2024
Population

2023
Population

(BC Statistics 
Estimate)

2022
Population

(BC Statistics 
Estimate)

Population 
Change % 
2016-2021

2021 Pri-
vate 

Dwellings

2016 Pri-
vate 

Dwellings
Land Area 
in sq/km

Population  
Density 

per sq/km

Lake Country 17,497 17,336 17,372 22.4 6,852 5,897 122.16 129.5

Building Permits 2024 2023 2022
Category Permit Value Permit Value Permit Value

Single Family Dwelling 28 32,473,839 27 38,189,767 45 38,809,000

Commercial 3 5,385,000 0 0 14 3,382,914

Agriculture 0 0 1 25,000 9 632,400

Industrial 2 4,285,669 1 96,000 0 0

Institutional 0 0 1 200,000 6 2,287,700

Multi-Family Dwelling * 9 37,996,000 23 59,165,245 6 12,825,000
Other 219 30,342,488 138 12,490,268 180 10,709,828

Total Permits/Values 233 110,482,996 191 110,166,280 260 68,646,842

* Multi-family dwelling permits represent the number of permits issued rather than the number of units constructed. 
One multi-family permit may consist of two or more units.

Business License Statistics

Year Total Renewed Business 
Licenses

New Business 
Licenses

Inter-Municipal 
Licenses 

(Included in Total)
Value of 
Licenses

2024

2023 896 -53 131 285 N/A

2022  1017  865  152 287 126,475.66 

2021 1151 955 196 259 106,610.00

2020 1050 904 146 194 95,835.25
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919 726 257193 $156,531.00
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